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Annual General Meeting Agenda 
Thursday, December 3, 2020 via Zoom 
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9:30am Call to Order  

Declaration of Quorum 

President’s Address  

Approval of Agenda 

Minutes of the last meeting  

Business arising from the minutes 

Auditor’s Report  

Appointment of Auditor 

Presentation of 2020/21 Budget 

Nominating Committee Report  

Election of Council Members 

NSFA Strategy and Program Update 

11:30am Government Speakers  

12:30pm LUNCH BREAK 

1:30pm Resolutions Report 

2020/21 Resolutions 

2020/21 Policy presentation 

4pm Adjourn  
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NSFA Presidents Report 2020 

Well here it is, NSFA Annual Meeting time again. One of these years we may get a normal year. The past 
few years we have seen everything from a late spring killer frost, a cold wet growing season, hurricane, 
drought and a global pandemic. I am not sure what else can be thrown our way. I find it hard to believe 
that it was a year ago I was talking about the major changes that the NSFA had undergone during the 
2018/2019 year – 2020 has certainly thrown us all for a loop. If anything, 2020 has strengthened our ability 
to adapt and overcome challenges and I am proud of how well you all faced the obstacles that have been 
put in your way. As an industry we worked together, supported each other and encouraged the success of 
others – something that I hope will continue after COVID-19.  

In this past year as you can probably understand COVID-19 has resulted in a lot of extra work for 
everyone. This is also the case for staff at NSFA and Council. Everyone is working hard for the agriculture 
industry in Nova Scotia. I have to give credit to Minister of Agriculture Keith Colwell, as well as NSDA staff 
and MP for Hants/Kings Kody Blois for all their help getting us through these COVID times. Staff and 
Council are also working on a number of projects and initiatives – from meetings with the PC & NDP 
caucuses, one-on-ones with MLAs and other government officials, launching campaigns, enhancing the 
services we offer our members and much more. 

I would like to thank NSFA staff for all of their hard work. A lot of people take our staff for granted and 
until you get to work with them you don’t really realize the work they do. They are a passionate and 
dedicated group of people who put in a lot of time and effort towards advancing our industry. They have 
gone above and beyond to support us throughout COVID-19, and for that I thank them. 

I also want to thank our NSFA Council. This is the first full year with our twelve-member council. They 
come from all over NS with diverse backgrounds. It is a great group who also work very hard for 
agriculture in NS. They are all leaders in this industry. Thank you for your time and commitment.  

Our Annual Meeting this year is taking place online – while this isn’t the way we thought we would be 
celebrating the 125th year of the NSFA we hope that you enjoyed the week-long celebration. It’s great to 
see you all virtually, hopefully we will be able to see you all face-to-face sometime in the near future.  

I would like to take this time to thank you all for your support over the last three years. It has been an 
honour to serve as the President of Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture since 2017, where we have been 
working hard to influence change to ensure the success of our industry. I have learned a great deal about 
the industry throughout my years on the Council, the knowledge and friendships I have gained are one of 
the best takeaways. If you have ever thought about serving Nova Scotia agriculture and are passionate 
about ensuring a sustainable future for Nova Scotia farms and farmers, I encourage you to join NSFA 
Council. We are always looking for dedicated people with new ideas and fresh perspectives.  

Take care of yourselves and each other. 

Yours in agriculture,  

Victor Oulton 
President, Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture 



Thank you to our Annual Meeting

Sponsors

Gold

Silver

Bronze

Truro & Kentville branches

Coldbrook, Brooklyn and New Glasgow locations
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Thank you to our Corporate Partners
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Thank you to our 
Member Benefit Partners

Turner Drake & Partners Ltd.

MCT Insurance

Medavie Blue Cross

Chrysler Canada

GBS Mobility

Kent Building Supplies

Enterprise Rent-A-Car

Marks Work Warehouse

Choice Hotels Canada

Fair Grant Writing

Real Estate experts Turner Drake now offer NSFA members a 15% discount on valuation and property tax advisory services 
on farm properties throughout the province.

Please contact Morneau Shepell, 1-800-667-6328 for an enrollment package. This coverage includes health, dental, 
disability, life and more. 

Offering NSFA members exclusive access to Farm Advantage. The program offers unique and enhanced farm insurance 
coverage.

Chrysler Canada offers fleet discount pricing to NSFA Members – this can be a significant savings to you on the purchase 
of your next vehicle

Mark’s Work Wearhouse is now offering NSFA members an exclusive 15% discount on selected items and brand names.

NSFA members receive a discount on any of Kent’s store front items and special pricing on lumber and building materials.

Through GBS Mobility, NSFA members receive preferred business rates on mobile phones and service on the Telus 
network plus a Free Procare kit with every new phone activated.

NSFA Members have access to free Government Funding Eligibility Check and 5% Discount on Service Fee.

Enterprise Rent-A-Car is now offering NSFA members corporate class rental pricing.

Significant Organization Savings rate program is designed to reward NSFA members with discounted room rates at 
participating Choice locations worldwide.

nsfa-fane.ca/members/benefit-partners/

MHCSI
Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture members have an opportunity to participate in an innovative Preferred Pharmacy 
Provider Program offered by MHCSI- Managed Health Care Services Inc.

Maritime Fuels
NSFA members receive exclusive offers on furnace oil, diesel fuel, and equipment. 

CAHRC
NSFA members are able to access the CAHRC AgriHR Toolkit, contact the NSFA office to receive your discount code.

Superior Propane
NSFA members will receive preferred business rates, a free wireless SMART Tank Sensor and tank rentals for only $1 
annually. 
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Best Western Glengarry, Truro, NS  November 28 & 29, 2019 

Call to Order 
The 124th annual meeting of the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture was called to order at 10:00 a.m. by the President, 
Victor Oulton. 

Invocation 
President, Victor Oulton welcomed members to the meeting and invited Lauren Park to provide an invocation of 
thankfulness, reflection and a moment of silence. 

Declaration of Quorum and Business Meeting Commences 
The Chair declared quorum for the meeting.  Meeting participants were reminded to approach the floor microphones 
prior to addressing the group and to ensure their cell phones were on silent.  The meeting will be conducted based on 
one farm one vote with the use of the voting cards provided.  Members were also informed that there is an audio 
recording being compiled of the meeting for internal use at the NSFA office. 

Approval of Agenda  
On a motion by Dennis Boudreau / Shelly McDermott the agenda was approved. M/C 

President’s Address 
President, Victor Oulton presented his report as printed in the annual meeting book. 

Minutes of previous meeting 
Minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting, November 29 & 30, 2018 were printed in AGM booklet on pages 8-13 
with a motion by Peter Morine / Gordon Jackson to approve the minutes as presented.  M/C.   

Business Arising from the Minutes - There was no business arising from the minutes. 

Auditors Report 
Maxime Lessard, PricewaterhouseCoopers presented the auditor’s report.  Motion by Joe Piotti/ Josh Oulton to adopt 
the auditor’s report as presented.  M/C  

Appointment of the Auditor  
A presentation was provided on proposals received with a recommendation for audit services to be awarded to MNP for 
the next 3 years, 2020, 2021, 2022.    On a motion of Greg Webster / Shelly McDermott the recommendation was accepted. 
M/C 

Presentation of 2019/2020 Budget  
Chris van den Heuvel, Corporate Treasurer presented the budget for 2019/2020 and addressed any questions.  The 
2019/2020 budget was adopted as presented. (Peter Morine / Geneve Newcombe) M/C 

Resolutions Report 
Chris van den Heuvel, Resolutions Committee Chair presented the resolution report on pages 27-34 of the annual 
meeting book.  The following comments were recorded: 

• With regard to resolution and premise identification (A-17-06), a letter from NSDA to Bacon Farms was
presented with concern on regulating number of head on farms.

• With regard to resolution on organic certification (A-17-03), it was noted that under Homegrown Success
funding was denied in 2017 for organic certification support.

• With regard to resolution on visibility on roadways (A-16-03) it was noted that this is an important advocacy and
that there is a new resolution proposed for 2020.
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• With regard to Wildlife Controls (A-18-03), it was noted that the CAP program does not address keeping bears
away from beehives.  On a motion of Tom Cosman / Dennis Boudreau, it was agreed to maintain this
resolution in consolidated resolutions. M/C

In summary, the following resolutions are recommended for deletion: 
Resolution A-16-03, Visibility on Roadways 
Resolution A-16-06, Increase in the Nova Scotia Farm Loan Board’s Lending Limit 
Resolution A-16-10, Abattoir Development in Eastern NS and Cape Breton 
Resolution A-16-12. Removal of Accredited Food Safety Plans as a Requirement for Food Safety Equipment 
Resolution A-16-15, Funding for Windbreak Solutions 
Resolution A-17-08, Support to Cash Flow Program Funding 
Resolution A-17-03, Organic Certification Fees 
Resolution A-17-02, Blueberry Pricing 
Resolution A-18-02, Inclusion of Gypsum under Provincial Subsidy Program 

In summary, the following resolutions are recommended to be maintained in consolidated resolutions: 
Resolution A-17-06, Premises Identification 
Resolution A-17-07, Field Crop Specialists 
Resolution A-17-05, Review of Description of Farm Vehicle 
Resolution A-17-04, Provincial Support for Spanish and Translation Services for Agricultural Workers 
Resolution A-18-01, Limestone Transportation Program Year Round Accessibility 
Resolution A-18-03, Add Wildlife Controls to the CAP Program 
Resolution A-18-05, Cell Phone and High Speed Internet 
Resolution A-18-06, Local Food Procurement 
The resolutions report was adopted (Shelly McDermott/ Gordon Jackson) M/C  

Presentation of Bylaw Amendments 
Victor Oulton presented the comparative document and clean version of the proposed NSFA Bylaw amendments.  There 
was a motion to put the suggested amendments on the floor for discussion. (Geneve Newcombe / Kimberly Stokdijk) 
M/C 

The amendments were handled as follows noting the section of the presented bylaws: 
• 9c, A general /special meeting may be called as requested by 40 members, changing the suggestion from 75

members. (Greg Webster / Philip Keddy) M/C
• 14, Quorum shall consist of 40 members, deleting suggestion ‘at minimum is 4 times’ and also deleting ‘at the

commencement of the meeting’. (Greg Webster/ Shelly McDermott) M/C
• 17, Remove this section completely to comply with Robert Rules for boards of less than 12. (Dennis Boudreau/

Siegmar Doelle) M/C
• 23, Number of members on Council shall be 12, removing the variance of 10 to 12 (Danny Bruce / Joe Piotti) M/C

RECESS for lunch and Agri-Futures Nova Scotia General Meeting. 

Meeting resumed with continuation of bylaw amendments: 
• 24, Members of Council shall be elected to three year terms with a maximum of three terms, a change from 2

terms. (John Vissers / Shelly McDermott) M/C
• 30g, Addition of email voting for Council meetings. (Andy Parker / Greg Webster) M/C
• 31, No business shall be conducted at Council unless a quorum is present, deleting ‘at the commencement of

the meeting.’ (Greg Webster / Shelly McDermott) M/C
• 33, Remove this section completely which references voting of the chair (Siegmar Doelle/ Josh Oulton) M/C
• 41, There was a motion to table the section on Nominating Committee (Chris van den Heuvel / Dean Manning)
• 42a, The Policy Advisory Committee is established by the Council, ‘through application’ from NSFA members.
• 42b, The Policy Advisory Committee (PAC) shall meet 4 times per year which is a change from twice per year.

(Greg Webster/ Josh Oulton)  M/C
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Nomination Report 
Chris van den Heuvel presented the nominating report as printed in the book on page 35.  The first call for further 
nominations was made with no response. 

The introduction and presentation of the 2020 Policy Paper and the 2019 Resolutions were deferred to later in the 
meeting. 

Presentation of Farm Technician Apprenticeship Program – Kimberly Stokdijk, Chair of the Trade Advisory Committee 
(TAC) provided a presentation on the program, introduced the committee members, and noted the purpose of the 
committee.  Kimberly read the extensive scope of the Farm Apprenticeship Trade and highlighted the four pillars of the 
program as being; 1) Technical Skills, 2) Agricultural Production Skills, 3) Personal Development and Leadership Skills, 
and 4) Regulatory Awareness.  Moving forward, the TAC committee will finalize review and prepare presentation to 
Apprenticeship Board in hopes of approval for new trade designation as early as February 2020. 

Josh Oulton moved to lift the tabled motion on Nominating Committee.   
A revised section for nominating committee was provided and adopted (Dean Manning/ Gordon Jackson) M/C as 
follows: 
41, Nominating Committee 

a. The Nominating Committee is established by the Council and shall be responsible for ensuring qualified
nominees are presented for vote at the Annual Meeting;

b. The current President and Executive Director shall be ex-officio (non-voting) Members of the
Nominating Committee;

c. Nominations shall be accepted through application in a format determined by the Nominating Committee;
d. The application period shall be open 45 calendar days prior to the 1st day of the Annual Meeting;
e. Applications must be received 15 calendar days prior to the 1st day of the Annual Meeting;
f. The application must be signed by the nominee and five (5) additional members of the NSFA; 
g. The list of qualified nominees will be communicated 10 calendar days prior to the 1st day of the Annual Meeting;
h. If there are an insufficient number of applications to fill the vacancies then nominations will be

taken from the floor at the Annual Meeting.
On a motion of Greg Webster / Dean Manning the amendments to the NSFA bylaws were adopted M/C 

The second call for nominations was made with no response. 

Nutrition Break 

Greetings from NDP Agriculture Critic 
Lisa Roberts opened her greetings by highlighting that she is on a learning journey on how to support Nova Scotia 
Agriculture and is open to having conversation.  Other topics were the potential of rural Nova Scotia, understanding 
movement toward EGSPA, thinking about climate change goals, local agriculture, and the resilience of the industry. 

Presentation from Farm Loan Board  
Jen Thompson, CEO opened the presentation noting that the Farm Loan Board has been providing financing 
opportunities for Nova Scotia’s agriculture industry since 1919.  Jen highlighted that the loan board is a developmental 
lender, with local people serving local businesses and has a loan portfolio of $185 million.  Jen noted the investment in 
the future and that the Farm Loan Board will help find solutions that work for farm business. 

Resolutions 2019 
Resolution 1 – Assistance for Biology Testing of Soils  
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Joe Piotti to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and resolution 
passed. 
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Resolution 2 – Improve Conditions in Rural Nova Scotia 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Estelle Levangie to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed with mention of Rural Beautification program. 

Resolution 3 – Reinstate Funding for Nutrient Management Plans 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Dennis Boudreau to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed. 

Resolution 4 – Investigate Allocation of Agricultural Extension Services  
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Keith Rudderham to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed. 

Resolution 5 – Organic Certification Fees 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Estelle Levangie to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed. 

Resolution 6 – Road and Ditch Maintenance 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Shelly McDermott to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.  It was noted during discussion that when advocating for maintaining ditches that bloom times and 
the bee industry are kept in mind. 

Resolution 7 – Generators 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Shelly McDermott to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.   

Resolution 8 – Land Use Planning  
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Tom Cosman to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.   

Greetings from Nova Scotia PC Leader 
After a stormy drive to the meeting, Tim Houston, Leader of PC Party, addressed the group recalling the Ivany Report of 
five years earlier and the promise to grow exports, noting that Agriculture exports have come up but have not doubled as 
the goal indicated.  Mr. Houston indicated that the PC Party is motivated to help grow agriculture, grow more and more 
of what we consume highlighting the work of Acadia and Dal AC as well as a necessary start with government 
institutions; Government needs to be a leader in this area.    There was commitment to work on policy development, 
time for real meaningful discussion and have our own dedicated Minister of Agriculture. The PC Party understands issues 
like access to internet and the huge opportunities in the industry.  He closed the presentation with respect and 
appreciation for the agriculture industry.   

Chris van den Heuvel posed a challenge to the politicians in the room; the agriculture industry needs more than a vision 
and is missing a comprehensive long term strategy for agriculture.  Tim Houston accepted the challenge before leaving 
the podium.  

Presentation from Minister of Agriculture 
In opening remarks, Honourable Keith Colwell countered a previous speaker that agriculture export goal in the Ivany 
Report is expected to be reached by 2024.  He also noted that he is a dedicated Agriculture Minister and that the 
relationship with Federation is so important; with appreciation for the work with NSFA Executive.  Minister Colwell has 
been investigating opportunities with Asian markets.  Minister Colwell also highlighted that the frost damage program 
was provincial only dollars and the damage from a fall hurricane is being investigated.   Other highlights included 
growing the wine industry, apple industry, small farm acceleration program, limestone trucking program, school milk, 
and a new buy local program launching in February.  Minister Colwell highlighted projects under the Building Tomorrow 
Fund and invited comments on improving CAP programs.  Questions from the membership were highlighted as follows: 
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• With regard to quota being property of a farm, Minister Colwell believes it is a value that should be owned by the
farmers and fully supports supply management as a stable income and safe high quality product for consumers.
Minister Colwell indicated that a letter could be sent from NSFA Executive with any further concerns.

• Contact list for NSDA Staff is missing from the website, Minister Colwell indicated that CNS is revising the web
page and the contact list will be back online.  A contact list will be provided to NSFA for circulation or call
Minister Colwell’s Executive Secretary.

• A member comment of concern with government support for the 4-H program.  Minister Colwell indicated that
he and the government are big supporters of the 4-H program and that any new model has been suggested by
4-H for consideration.  It was suggested that the member have a conversation with the Executive of 4-H.

• A comment that CETA did hurt the dairy industry.
• A comment that food sovereignty be added to vocabulary for government.

Meeting recessed at 5:15 p.m.  

The meeting was re-convened at 8.30 a.m. by President, Victor Oulton. The early bird draw for door prizes took place. 

Update from Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture 
Deputy Minister Frank Dunn was the first speaker for day two, outlining the department’s strategic priorities, an 
economic update, funding programs and department initiatives with Building Tomorrow Fund and Dykeland 
Improvement. In closing, Frank said farewell; after 35 years in nine different departments he is retiring from government 
in December.   

Canadian Federation of Agriculture (CFA) Update 
Chris van den Heuvel was introduced as the newly elected 2nd Vice President of CFA and provided an overview of key 
issues, programs and projects.  The update included advocacy on CN Rail strike as well as work in Labour, Business Risk 
Management and Rural Infrastructure.  There was also a review on the Producing Prosperity Campaign in Canada 
recently activated in the Federal Election.  Following the presentation, comments and questions on BRM programming, 
upcoming livestock transportation regulations and what is going on nationally with regard to engaging youth and gender 
equality.   

Introduction to Policy Paper 
Maxine MacLean highlighted the process for development of the policies and introduced the 2020 policy paper as 
printed in the Annual Meeting book on pages 36 – 41. 

Policy #1 Agriculture Land 
The policy on Agriculture Land was adopted with an amendment to remove ‘within the five year review of EGSPA’ (Greg 
Webster/Josh Oulton) M/C 

Policy #2 Soil Health 
The policy on Soil Health was adopted noting that this is an area where industry can address C02 (Josh Oulton / Danny 
Bruce)  M/C 

Policy #3 Labour 
The policy on Labour was adopted (Greg Webster / Philip Keddy) M/C 

Policy #4 Transportation  
The policy on Transportation was adopted (Gordon Jackson / Danny Bruce) M/C 

Policy #5 Regulatory Alignment 
The policy for Regulatory was adopted with an amendment to remove ‘alignment’ from the title and add ‘lobby for 
regulations that minimally impacts farmers, farm families and farm operations’ in the policy statement.  (Greg Webster / 
Danny Bruce) M/C 
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Chris van den Heuvel continued with the 2019 Resolutions 

Resolution 9 – Lime Subsidy 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Danny Bruce to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.   

Resolution 10 – Spring Bear Hunt 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Shelly McDermott to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.   

Late Resolutions 
Resolution #11 – Protection for Farm Community from Activists 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Shelly McDermott to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.   

Resolution #12 – Lower Programs Application Threshold 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Greg Webster to adopt the resolution.  There was a friendly 
amendment to change reference to gross farm income.  Motion was tabled. 

Resolution 13 – Maintenance of Dyke Systems 
Motion by Chris van den Heuvel and seconded by Dennis Boudreau to adopt the resolution.  Motion was carried and 
resolution passed.   

Resolution 14 was presented from the floor of the AGM to ban non-stun slaughter of food animals. Motion defeated 

Strategic Plan Implementation Update 
Victor Oulton began the presentation with a review of the Strategic Plan process since the 2018 Annual Meeting including 
the three priorities that are being addressed through various strategies.  Wanda Hamilton provided an update on 
operational and governance improvement followed by details and tactics in the Government Relations strategy for the 
next year.  Carolyn Van Den Heuvel highlighted strategies to connect and engage with members; member relations, 
communications and media relations.  Carolyn also provided an update on the current Outreach programs; 
Environmental Farm Plan, AgSector, Public Trust and Farm Safety.  

Resolutions continued 
Lauren Park lifted from the table Resolution 12, Lower Program Application Threshold for further discussion and vote.  
Motion was carried and resolution passed. 

Election 
Third and final call for nominations was made with no response.  With the adoption of bylaw amendments, the 
nominating committee report on page 35 represents recommendation for the 7 members of previous Executive, the 4 
applications received from Andy Parker, Josh Oulton, Peter Morine and Jacob Mullen for a total on 11, leaving one 
vacancy to be filled by Council. On a motion of Danny Bruce / Shelly McDermott, the nominating committee report was 
adopted. M/C 

The NSFA meeting was recessed for Farm Safety Nova Scotia Annual Meeting, followed by lunch. 

Meeting resumed at 1:00 p.m. 

Presentation from Farm Credit Canada 
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Faith Matchett, VP National Customer Service Centers and Atlantic Operations addressed the group.  Prior to introducing 
the keynote speaker, Faith provided an insightful presentation on strengthening business and personal resilience 
including a focus on mental health.    

Keynote Speaker  
Lesley Kelly, High Heels and Canola Fields provided a compelling address on leadership lessons and how to create 
change.  Lesley began with a starter game to get people thinking, she entertained the group with her personal 
experiences and seven lessons learned noting that laughing is an important 8th principle that she lives by whether it be at 
yourself or with others. 

New Business – No new business to report. 

Meeting Evaluation – A meeting evaluation was circulated and with responses received a draw was made for a smoker, 
donated by G&G Computers.  Daniel DeCoste was the lucky winner. 

Adjournment – On a motion of Andy Parker, the meeting was adjourned at 2:35 p.m.  An in-camera, members only 
meeting was held following the adjournment. 



Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Financial Statements

August 31, 2020

13



Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Contents

For the year ended August 31, 2020

Page

Independent Auditors' Report

Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................1

Statement of Operations................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................2

Statement of Changes in Net Assets................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................3

Statement of Cash Flows................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................4

Notes to the Financial Statements................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................5

14



Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture: 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture (the "Federation"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at August 31, 2020, and the statements of operations, changes in
net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Federation as at August 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Federation in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Federation for the year ended August 31, 2019 were audited by another firm of
Chartered Professional Accountants who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on November
20, 2019.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Federation’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Federation or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Federation’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

SUITE 301, 640 PRINCE STREET, TRURO NS, B2N 1G4
  T: 902.897.9291   F: 902.897.9293  MNP.ca 

15



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Federation’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Federation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to

the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the Federation to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Truro, Nova Scotia

November 25, 2020 Chartered Professional Accountants
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Statement of Financial Position

As at August 31, 2020

2020 2019

Assets
Current

Cash 186,590 2,712
Restricted cash (Note 3) 345,115 241,745
Accounts receivable 137,296 64,393
Investments (Note 3) 328,143 655,807
Prepaid expenses 16,198 3,072

1,013,342 967,729

Capital assets (Note 4) 1,115,237 1,081,925

2,128,579 2,049,654

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accruals 92,132 59,867
Deferred income 346,135 448,754
Deferred contributions - project funds in trust (Note 5) 345,115 239,587
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 6) 13,655 15,512

797,037 763,720

Long-term debt (Note 6) 981,848 916,017

1,778,885 1,679,737

Subsequent event (Note 11)

Net Assets
Unrestricted net assets 189,960 219,520
Investment in capital assets 159,734 150,397

349,694 369,917

2,128,579 2,049,654

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors
{{esl:Signer1:Signature:size(200,40)}} {{esl:Signer2:Signature:size(200,40)}}

Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Statement of Operations

For the year ended August 31, 2020

2020 2020 2019
Budget

Revenue
Farm registration dues 832,175 737,007 732,137
Corporate memberships 18,000 13,500 16,500
Secretarial and office services (Note 8) 60,000 58,551 83,282
Annual meeting 20,000 19,990 16,790
Interest and miscellaneous 9,304 8,705 11,913
Office rental 47,758 44,400 35,020
Federal wage subsidy (Note 9) - 15,125 -

Total revenue 987,237 897,278 895,642

Expenses
Amortization 48,000 45,373 30,937
Annual meeting 23,500 22,022 20,350
Bank charges 2,000 3,137 1,928
C.F.A. dues 18,600 18,603 18,149
C.F.A. delegates 8,000 7,365 8,295
C.F.A. directors 6,000 3,239 7,243
Committee 13,000 5,820 13,205
Communications and member relations 61,000 59,864 67,365
Computer 12,500 16,052 12,363
County membership share 35,000 34,305 35,895
Staff development 5,000 5,595 4,726
Council 77,500 38,646 72,594
HST expense 20,000 20,875 25,969
Honorariums 4,000 4,000 4,000
Insurance 8,000 4,511 8,250
Interest on long-term debt 51,600 54,865 32,312
Office costs and telephone 15,000 21,520 90,643
Professional fees 8,000 12,253 7,221
Property tax - 12,633 -
Repairs and maintenance 27,425 20,580 2,283
Salaries and benefits 509,978 482,774 484,951
Scholarships 3,000 3,000 3,000
Staff Expenses 18,000 13,773 21,637
Utilities 10,500 6,696 -

Total expenses 985,603 917,501 973,316

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses before other items 1,634 (20,223) (77,674)

Other items
Write-down of leasehold improvements - - (16,791)
Project funds in trust - revenue (Note 5) - 517,913 675,720
Project funds in trust - expense (Note 5) - (517,913) (675,720)

- - (16,791)

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 1,634 (20,223) (94,465)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended August 31, 2020

Investment in
capital assets

Unrestricted 2020 2019

Net assets, beginning of year 150,397 219,520 369,917 464,382
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses (55,838) 35,615 (20,223) (94,465)

94,559 255,135 349,694 369,917

Investment in capital assets (note 7) 65,175 - 65,175 99,992
Inter-fund transfers (note 7) - (65,175) (65,175) (99,992)

Net assets, end of year 159,734 189,960 349,694 369,917

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended August 31, 2020

2020 2019

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating

Deficiency of revenue over expenses (20,223) (94,465)
Amortization 45,373 30,937
Write-down of leasehold improvements - 16,791

25,150 (46,737)
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (72,903) (15,354)
Prepaid expenses (13,126) 4,126
Accounts payable and accruals 32,264 25,795
Deferred income (102,619) 102,046
Deferred contributions - project funds in trust 105,528 78,260

(25,706) 148,136

Financing
Advances of long-term debt 77,771 939,978
Repayment of long-term debt (13,797) (8,450)

63,974 931,528

Investing
Decrease in investments 327,664 69,436
Purchase of capital assets (78,684) (1,079,248)

248,980 (1,009,812)

Increase in cash resources 287,248 69,852

Cash resources, beginning of year 244,457 174,605

Cash resources, end of year 531,705 244,457

Cash resources are composed of:
Cash 186,590 2,712
Restricted cash 345,115 241,745

531,705 244,457

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended August 31, 2020

1. Incorporation and nature of the organization

The Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture (the “Federation”) was incorporated without share capital and is under the
authority of  the Federations of Agriculture Act and is registered as a not-for-profit organization and thus is exempt from
income taxes under section 149 (1)(l) of the Income Tax Act (“the Act”).

The Federation represents the interest of over 2,000 farm families across the province and over 90% of agriculture
production in Nova Scotia.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations set out in Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, as issued by the Accounting Standards Board
in Canada, which are part of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and include the following significant
accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities of three months or less.
Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is included in restricted cash.

Investments

Investments that are not quoted in an active market are measured at amortized cost, net of transaction costs, using the
effective interest method.

Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.

Amortization is provided using rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.

Method Rate
Buildings straight-line 30 years
Computer equipment declining balance 30 %
Office equipment declining balance 20 %

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the
applicable accounting policies.

The Federation writes down long-lived assets held for use when conditions indicate that the asset no longer contributes to
the Federation’s ability to provide goods and services. The assets are also written-down when the value of future economic
benefits or service potential associated with the asset is less than its net carrying amount. When the Federation determines
that a long-lived asset is impaired, its carrying amount is written down to the asset’s fair value.

Fund accounting

The Federation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions and reports using fund accounting, and
maintains two funds: Unrestricted Fund and Investment in Capital Assets Fund.

The Unrestricted Fund reports the Federation’s unrestricted resources and revenue and expenses related to program
delivery and administrative activities. 

The Investment in Capital Assets Fund reports the Federation’s assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses related to Nova
Scotia Federation of Agriculture’s capital assets. 

Revenue recognition

The Federation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are recognized as
revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when
received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended August 31, 2020

Unrestricted investment income is recognized as revenue when earned.

Farm registration dues are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned. Farm registration dues are
collected by the Farm Registrar on a yearly basis from April 1 to March 31, coinciding with the Provincial Government year-
end. 

Corporate memberships and office rental are recognized as revenue on an accrual basis, when services are provided and
when collection is reasonably assured.

Government assistance

Government grants are recognized as revenue when there is reasonable assurance that the Federation will comply with the
conditions required to qualify for the grant. 

Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. 

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

By their nature, these judgments are subject to measurement uncertainty, and the effect on the financial statements of
changes in such estimates and assumptions in future years could be material. These estimates and assumptions are
reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in excess of revenues over expenses in the
years in which they become known. 

Financial instruments

The Federation recognizes its financial instruments when the Federation becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management. Financial assets and liabilities originated and issued
in all other related party transactions are initially measured at their carrying or exchange amount in accordance with Section
3840 Related Party Transactions (note 8).

At initial recognition, the Federation may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value.
The Federation has not made such an election during the year.

The Federation subsequently measures all other financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost. 

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the deficiency of revenues over expenses
for the current period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those financial
instruments subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

Financial asset impairment:

The Federation assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. The Federation
groups assets for impairment testing when available information is not sufficient to permit identification of each individually
impaired financial asset in the group; there are numerous assets affected by the same factors; no asset is individually
significant, etc. Management considers whether the issuer is having significant financial difficulty; whether there has been a
breach in contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; etc. in determining whether objective
evidence of impairment exists. When there is an indication of impairment, the Federation determines whether it has resulted
in a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the Federation
reduces the carrying amount of any impaired financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows expected to
be generated by holding the assets; the amount that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount expected to be
realized by exercising any rights to collateral held against those assets. Any impairment, which is not considered temporary,
is included in current year deficiency of revenues over expenses.

The Federation reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in the excess of deficiency in the year the reversal occurs.
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended August 31, 2020

3. Investments

2020 2019

0.25% Renaissance High Interest savings account 372,000 601,426
1.83% Non-redeemable GIC, maturing January 2021 301,258 296,126
Less: Project funds in trust - restricted cash (345,115) (241,745)

328,143 655,807

4. Capital assets

2020 2019
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Land 55,000 - 55,000 55,000
Buildings 1,092,232 55,878 1,036,354 999,317
Computer equipment 137,475 131,639 5,836 -
Office equipment 61,478 43,431 18,047 27,608

1,346,185 230,948 1,115,237 1,081,925

5. Project funds in trust

The Federation receives funding for specific projects. Funds received related to projects which have not been expended are
recorded as deferred contributions on the statement of financial position. Project funds in trust as of August 31, 2020
consist of the following:

Balance -
beginning of

year

Project funds
received

Project funds
expended

Balance -
end of year

County AGM delegate pool 6,684 3,445 (10,129) -
In Trust: food policy alliance project 3,722 - (1,041) 2,681
ILT poultry fund 461 1,000 (350) 1,111
Environmental farm planning 2,521 175,638 (176,757) 1,402
Mental health fund - 5,000 - 5,000
Public trust project 6,993 142,402 (142,819) 6,576
Species at risk (24) 77,013 (32,409) 44,580
Industry planning 40,366 - (3,445) 36,921
Water metering 68,639 - (3,835) 64,804
Workplace education - 37,220 (27,177) 10,043
AgSector 91,892 176,722 (103,210) 165,404
Major office equipment 18,333 5,000 (16,740) 6,593

239,587 623,440 (517,912) 345,115

Included in the project funds received is government funding in the amount of $594,306 (2019 - $556,992).
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended August 31, 2020

6. Long-term debt

2020 2019

Nova Scotia Farm Loan Board loan bearing interest at 5.8%, payable in monthly blended
instalments of $5,720, maturing December 2048 955,503 931,529

Canada Emergency Business Account Loan, non-interest bearing, repayment of the balance
of the loan on or before December 31, 2022 will result in loan forgiveness of up to $10,000 40,000 -

995,503 931,529

Less: current portion 13,655 15,512

981,848 916,017

Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next five years, assuming all term debt is subject to contractual terms
of repayment are estimated as follows:

2021 13,655
2022 14,368
2023 45,224
2024 16,080
2025 17,138

The Nova Scotia Farm Loan Board loan is secured by the following:

- First position, continuing collateral mortgage, registered for $1,200,000 over PID 20331468, located at 7 Atlantic Central
Drive, East Mountain, Nova Scotia;
- General security agreement with NSFLB over all present and future acquired assets; and
- Promissory note with Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture for $977,750

7. Interfund transactions

During the year, the Federation transferred $65,175 (2019 - $99,992) from the Unrestricted Fund to the Federation’s
Investment in capital assets Fund to cover the excess of expenses for building operations.

8. Related party transactions

Included in the Federation’s secretarial and office services account is $18,000 (2019 – $25,000) paid for a management
contract by Farm Safety Nova Scotia, a significantly influenced organization. Amounts received from Farm Safety Nova
Scotia are recorded at their fair value.
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended August 31, 2020

9. Government assistance

In response to the negative economic impacts of COVID-19, the Government of Canada announced the Canada
Emergency Wage Subsidy ("CEWS") program in April 2020. CEWS provides a wage subsidy on eligible remuneration,
subject to limits per employee, to eligible employers based on certain criteria, including demonstration of revenue declines
as a result of COVID-19. This subsidy is retroactive to March 15, 2020. The qualification and application of the CEWS is
being assessed over multiple four-week application period segments.

The Federation has determined that it has qualified for this subsidy from the March 15, 2020 effective date through July 4,
2020 and has, accordingly, applied for the CEWS.

The Federation will recognize government grants when there is reasonable assurance that it will comply with the conditions
required to qualify for the grant. The Federation recognizes government grants as revenue. The Federation has recognized
$15,125 of CEWS for the 16 week period ended July 4, 2020 and has recorded it as revenue during this period.

10. Financial instruments

The Federation, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the
Federation is not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial
instruments except as otherwise disclosed.

Credit concentration

As at August 31, 2020, the Province of Nova Scotia accounted for 73% (2019 - 78%) of the accounts receivable. The
Federation believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these receivables, as the Federation
has received these amounts subsequent to year-end.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in the interest
rates. Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some financial assets and
liabilities, known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk.

The Federation is exposed to interest rate price risk on its investments and  long-term debt as they are at a fixed rate.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Federation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
The Federation enters into transactions to purchase goods and services on credit and borrow funds from financial
institutions for which repayment is required at various maturity dates. 

11. Subsequent event

During the year, there was a global outbreak of COVID-19 (coronavirus), which has had a significant impact on businesses
through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial and municipal governments regarding travel, business
operations and isolation/quarantine orders. At this time, it is unknown the extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may
have on the Federation as this will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted
with confidence. These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, and
the duration of the outbreak, including the duration of travel restrictions, business closures or disruptions, and
quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may be put, in place by Canada and other countries to fight the virus.

12. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture 
Budget  2020-21  Budget  Actual  Budget 

 2019-20  2019 - 20  2020-21 
INCOME
Annual Meeting Income 20,000$                 19,990$               15,000$    
Corporate Partners 18,000$                 13,500$               18,000$    
Membership Dues 832,175$               737,007$            762,036$    
Interest on Investments 9,304$  8,705$                 6,000$     
Rental Income 47,758$                 44,400$               50,802$    
Service Contract Fees 60,000$                 58,551$               58,780$    
Federal Wage Subsidy 15,125$               
TOTAL INCOME 987,237$               897,278$            910,618$    

EXPENSES
Accounting & Legal 8,000$  12,253$               12,000$    
Amortization 48,000$                 45,373$               42,000$    
Annual Meeting 23,500$                 22,022$               17,500$    
Bank Charges 2,000$  3,137$                 1,500$     
Building 
Mortgage Interest 51,600$                 54,865$               55,200$    
Property Taxes -$  12,633$               12,000$    
CFA Dues 18,600$                 18,603$               18,972$    
Committee 13,000$                 5,820$                 10,000$    
Member Relations 61,000$                 59,864$               54,000$    
Computer and IT 12,500$                 16,052$               28,533$    
Council 77,500$                 38,646$               55,000$    
Honorariums 4,000$  4,000$                 4,000$     
CFA Delegates 8,000$  7,365$                 7,500$     
CFA Director 6,000$  3,239$                 3,500$     
County Membership Share 35,000$                 34,305$               31,425$    
HST Expense 20,000$                 20,875$               15,000$    
Insurance 8,000$  4,511$                 8,000$     
Administrative (Office Costs) 15,000$                 21,520$               14,900$    
Property Maintenance 27,425$                 20,580$               36,025$    
Utilities 10,500$                 6,696$                 10,000$    
Scholarships/Endowment 3,000$  3,000$                 3,000$     
Staff Expenses 18,000$                 13,773$               12,500$    
Professional Development 5,000$  5,595$                 5,000$     
Wages and benefits 509,978$               482,774$            443,668$    
TOTAL EXPENSES 985,603$               917,501$            901,223$    

Net Income/Loss 1,634$  20,223-$               9,395$     
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Nominating Committee Report for Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture 
2020 Annual General Meeting 

The Nominating Committee of the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture is made up of two Council 
members and the two past Presidents of the NSFA. The President and Executive Director shall be ex-
officio members of the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee is responsible for ensuring 
qualified nominees are presented for vote at the Annual Meeting. 

The following are current members of council: 

Name Year(s) 
remaining in 
term 

Term 

Victor Oulton 2 3rd 

Tim Marsh 2 2nd 

Chris deWaal 1 1st 

Allan Melvin 1 1st 

Jacob Mullen 
*eligible for 3-3 year terms
after this year

1 1st 

Andy Parker 2 1st 

Josh Oulton 2 1st 

Peter Morine 
*eligible for 3-3 year terms
after this year

1 1st 

As directed by membership at the 2019 Annual Meeting following the approval of the by-laws, Council 
established a process to create “staggered terms” for new members of Council as described in this report. 
Council also amended the nominating policy with the following statement: To ensure integrity of 
staggered terms, it shall be the policy of the Council that any Council member serving a partial term shall 
be eligible to complete three (3) three-year terms following their partial term following the nomination 
process of the NSFA. 
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There are 4 council positions open and based on the five applications received 15 days prior to the AGM 
as outlined in the NSFA bylaws, there will be an election at the AGM to pick four of the following five 
nominees. 

Name Term 

Lauren Park 2nd 

*Gordon Jackson 1st 

*Joe Piotti 1st 

Alicia King 1st 

Jocelyn Durston 1st 

*Gordon Jackson and Joe Piotti completed one year as council members and are eligible for 3-3-year
terms since they were appointed to complete a 1-year term in order to start the staggered terms process
under the new bylaws.

Respectfully submitted by the Nominating Committee, 

Chris van den Heuvel, Chair 
Chris deWaal 
Dennis Boudreau 
Allan Melvin 
Victor Oulton (ex-officio) 
Henry Vissers (ex-officio) 
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Resolutions Report 

A-2019-02
Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the Provincial Government to
improve conditions in rural Nova Scotia to attract and keep Agricultural Infrastructure spread throughout
the province.

- NSFA included internet access in budget submission to the provincial government.
- Develop Nova Scotia announced plans to reach high speed internet services to 97% of Nova

Scotia by Summer of 2022.  The announcement released on September 1st highlights the areas
expected to be covered by the projects.  97% isn’t the full 100% that NSFA has been lobbying for,
however, we are pleased to see the gap is finally narrowing.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  NSFA will continue to monitor progress on
internet services throughout Nova Scotia.

A-2019-04
Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture look into the allocation of
Agricultural Extension Services from the Provincial Government and private sources as they relate to
farmgate sales throughout the province.

- Government office locations (NSDA, AAFC, Perennia) were compared against farm gate receipts in
the counties and surrounding counties.  It was found that the office locations were located in
regions with higher farm gate receipts with the exception of Cumberland and Cape Breton.
Points were made that Cumberland neighbours Colchester County which has an abundance of
agriculture resources and services.  Regarding to Cape Breton, most of the agriculture activity is in
the counties either Cape Breton or Inverness.  It is unfortunate that government agriculture
services aren’t centrally located between the two agriculture regions.

- This resolution is recommended for deletion.

A-2019-06
"Therefore be it resolved, that Kings County Federation of Agriculture requests that Nova Scotia Federation
of Agriculture raise the issue of road and ditch maintenance with upper management and Minister of the
Nova Scotia Department of Transportation and Infrastructure Renewal and request access to existing road
maintenance protocols and what the future plans are for regular maintenance of rural roads in Nova Scotia;
and,
Be it further resolved, that Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture assess with assistance of 3rd party experts if
the existing maintenance plans and protocols are acceptable to ensure roads are kept in good repair and
furthermore, that these plans and protocols are being followed.

- A survey is available for members to complete on road disrepair.  This feedback will be submitted
to TIR as recommendation for the Rural Impact Mitigation budget.  Members will be able to
provide feedback until December 31, 2020.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  NSFA will make submission to TIR in January
and continue with efforts to assess maintenance plans and protocols.

A-2019-08
Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture formulate a process or create a 
committee that provides necessary expertise to County Federations to assist with land use planning issues
arising between Municipalities and local Federations.
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- Request for an advisory committee to be established under existing provincial legislation was
made and denied.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  Lobby efforts to develop such a committee will
continue as NSFA supports County Federations with participating in upcoming Municipal
Planning Strategy consultations.

A-2019-10
Therefore be it Resolved, that Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby Nova Scotia Department of Lands
and Forestry for a Spring Bear Hunt.

- Request was made for the establishment of a Spring Hunting Season for bear.
- Department of Lands and Forestry indicated that more information would be required to increase

bag limits for bear harvesting and to develop a Spring Hunting Season for Bear.  Farmers are
encouraged to document and report bear sightings.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  NSFA and Lands and Forestry staff are
collaborating on an information session for farmers around wildlife management.

A-2019-11
Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture investigate other provincial
legislation regarding on farm protesting via trespassing and lobby appropriate provincial departments to
strengthen legislation as required, in order to protect the farm/industry.

- NSFA submitted a letter to Department of Justice Minister requesting either changes to current
legislation or implementing new legislation to protect farmers from trespassers.

- NSFA is working to gather speakers and host an information session for farmers on the steps that
can be taken to proactively respond to farmers.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  NSFA will continue with efforts to progress
changes to legislation and provide resources for farmers.

A-2019-13
Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby and request the Nova Scotia 
Department of Agriculture to do the necessary repair work on this dyke system so farmers can continue to
farm these productive marshlands.

- NSFA occasionally receives updates on Dykeland repairs and maintenance at a high level at our
regular meetings with Minister and Senior Staff.

- Other departments have written plans (eg: NSTIRs road maintenance plan).  Along with efforts to
request NSDA to do necessary repair work on the dyke system, NSFA is also requesting that NSDA
implement a plan regarding dyke maintenance.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  NSFA will continue to request a formal plan
from NSDA to promote transparency around the maintenance of dyke systems across the
province.

A-18-05
Therefore be it resolved that, the NSFA lobby the Minister of Agriculture, the Premier of Nova Scotia and the
appropriate federal, provincial, municipal departments involved in business development and
communications along with the CRTC to request their involvement in resolving this lack of services that are
essential to businesses in this province.
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- NSFA included internet access in budget submission to the provincial government.
- Develop Nova Scotia announced plans to reach high speed internet services to 97% of Nova

Scotia by Summer of 2022.  The announcement released on September 1st highlights the areas
expected to be covered by the projects.  97% isn’t the full 100% that NSFA has been lobbying for,
however, we are pleased to see the gap is finally narrowing.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.  NSFA will continue to monitor progress on
internet services throughout Nova Scotia.

A-18-06
Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the provincial government to
primarily procure locally available Nova Scotia products and ensure minimum procurement from their third
party providers in all government institutions by 2025.

- The Halifax Food Policy Alliance (HFPA) is working on Food Action Plan with the Halifax Regional
Municipality.  As a member of the HFPA Steering Committee, NSFA will be leading an engagement
session open to members on procurement and other opportunities to access markets under the
Food Action Plan.

- This resolution is recommended to continue.
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The following resolutions will be deleted as they have been acted on for three years: 

A-17-06
Therefore be it resolved that, the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture work with commodity groups and the
Department to explore the possibility of incorporating the Premises Identification Application with the Farm
Registration Application.

- Though Premise IDs weren’t added to the Farm Registration Form, it was generally felt that there
was good uptake of the program.

A-17-07
Therefore be it resolved that, the NSFA lobby the Department of Agriculture to maintain the positions of two
Field Crop Specialists in the province.

- Additional extension resources for forages and grains have been made at Perennia.

A-17-05
Therefore be it resolved that, the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the Nova Scotia government to
allow for an application process for non-traditional farm vehicles to be registered as farm vehicles.

- This resolution is a position included in NSFA’s submissions on the regulations for the Traffic
Safety Act.

A-17-04
Therefore be it resolved that, the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture, in partnership with Horticulture
Nova Scotia and any other applicable commodity groups, lobby the Province of Nova Scotia to provide
translation and adaptation support services for Spanish speaking Agricultural Workers that can be accessed
by farmers to assist with health care, provincial services, and occupational health and safety support and
training.

- Translation of resources continues to be part of project work at NSFA.
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The following resolutions had minimal traction; however, fit well into Standing Policy efforts for 2020.  The 
following resolutions are recommended to be incorporated into Soil Health Standing Policy: 

- Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the Nova Scotia
Department of Agriculture to assist farmers in the biology testing of soils in the same manner as it
assists with the cost of soil testing for chemical makeup.

- Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the Nova Scotia
Department of Agriculture to reinstate funding for the Nutrient Management Plans.

- Therefore be it Resolved, that Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby for a subsidy on the
purchase of lime.

- Therefore be it resolved, that the Federation lobby the Department of Agriculture to modify the
Limestone Transportation Program so producers can access it at any time of the year without the
existing rigid application and claiming deadlines.

- Therefore be it resolved, that the NSFA lobby the Minister of Agriculture and NSDA Programs to
include assistance for trucking Gypsum under the Provincial subsidy program similar to that of
trucking assistance of lime.

The following resolutions are recommended to be incorporated into the Agriculture Policy Framework 
Standing Policy: 

- Therefore be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture will request and lobby the
Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture to implement support at 70% funding for organic
certification fees (to a maximum of $750 annually) for organic farms or farms converting to
organic certification.

- Therefore be it resolved, that Kings County Federation of Agriculture request the Nova Scotia
Federation of Agriculture to lobby for 50 percent cost sharing for on farm generators to be
included in the CAP program.

- Therefore Be it Resolved, that The Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the Nova Scotia
Agriculture Minister to reduce the threshold for application from $30,000 to $10,000 for agriculture
support programs in cases where the Small Farm Accelerator Program is not suitable.
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Resolutions for the 2020 NSFA Annual Meeting 

Resolution #1 
Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture Membership 
Whereas membership in the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture is currently limited to farms registered 
through the Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture Farm Registration System; and 
Whereas in 2020 the Department of Agriculture changed its farm registration policies resulting in many 
farms being removed from the membership roll of the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture, and a loss of 
membership revenue to the Federation; and 
Whereas the policy change was made unilaterally by the Department of Agriculture without consultation 
with the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture; and 
Whereas future changes to the registration system may be made unilaterally by the Department of 
Agriculture thereby removing more farmers from the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture membership; 
and 
Whereas the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture should have the power to control its own 
membership; 
Therefore, be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture amend its membership bylaw so 
that farms that are not registered under the Provincial Farm Registration System have a method by which 
to become members of the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture. 

- Adopted at an Annual Meeting of the Kings
County Federation of Agriculture on
November 12, 2020

Resolution #2 
TFW and Processing 
Whereas processing is necessary for many primary agricultural products to be consumed; and 
Whereas many farms in Nova Scotia have processing integrated into their farm operations; 
Therefore, be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby for the inclusion of 
processing on farm for the TFW and SAWP programs.  

- Adopted at an Annual Meeting of the Kings
County Federation of Agriculture on
November 12, 2020
(amended in consultation with the Kings
County Federation)
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Resolution #3 
Processing of Livestock and Poultry  
Whereas COVID-19 has brought to light the lack of sufficient infrastructure in the value chain to get Nova 
Scotia meat to Nova Scotia consumers; and  
Whereas most small and large farms find it difficult to process their livestock and poultry;  
Therefore, be it resolved, that the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture lobby the Nova Scotia 
Government to close the infrastructure gap by looking at on-farm and/or mobile inspected slaughter, 
funding for new entrants in processing capacity and funding for existing processors. 

- Adopted at an Annual Meeting of the
Inverness/Victoria Federation of Agriculture
on November 12, 2020
(amended in consultation with the Kings
County Federation)

Resolution #4 
Wood Ash/Fly Ash Subsidy 
Whereas soils in Nova Scotia are generally acidic; and 
Whereas the application of wood ash/fly ash is known to raise pH of soils and provide other beneficial 
nutrients to the soil; and 
Whereas wood ash/fly ash is available only in a few locations throughout Nova Scotia resulting in 
transportation costs to use it;  
Therefore, be it resolved, that the NSFA lobby the Department of Agriculture to have Wood Ash/Fly Ash 
transportation subsidized similarly to the Limestone Transportation subsidy through the Business and 
Risk Management Programs.   

- Adopted at an Annual Meeting of the
Inverness/Victoria Federation of Agriculture
on November 12, 2020
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Agricultural Land 
Agricultural land is land that is managed for farm use and 
land with agricultural potential. These uses include pasture, 
crop, and horticultural land, maple groves, Christmas trees, 
orchards and class 2, 3, and 4 soils as defined by the 
Canadian Land Inventory. Ensuring the availability of 
agricultural land allows for the future generations to farm.  

There are many issue areas that impact agricultural land use. 
According to the “Preservation of Agricultural Land” report by 
the Agriculture Land Review Committee, Nova Scotia has a 
little over 29% (1.57 million hectares) if its land classed as 
Agriculture. The report indicated that agriculture land 
abandonment, urban sprawl/development, soil fertility and 
impact of rising water on dykeland are all issues of concern 
that must be addressed. Beyond ensuring availability of 
agricultural land for present and future generations, 
increasing land values, property migration when sold and 
trespassing are all significant concerns among land owners. 
Multiple levels of governments are working to protect land for 
various reasons including biodiversity, wildlife, wetlands and 
agriculture.  There is potential for conflict between these 
objectives.   

In 2017, NSFA assembled an Agricultural Land Policy 
Committee to continue work on addressing the issues 
mentioned above, as well as other recommendations. The 
committee’s goal is to examine and work toward 
implementation of the recommendations in the Preservation 
of Agriculture Land Report. The committee has 
representation from varying organizations who are impacted 
by work directly with agricultural land including: NSFA 
Executive and Members, Nova Scotia Department of 
Agriculture, Department of Lands and Forestry, Annapolis 
Valley Farmland Trust Society, Department of Municipal 
Affairs, Union of Nova Scotia Municipalities, and Perennia.  

Policy Statement  
It shall be the policy of the Nova Scotia Federation of 
Agriculture to address land issues through a joint committee 
and collaborative effort.  Land efforts will focus on protecting 
agricultural land for future generations.  

Soil Health 
Healthy soils are the foundation to sustainable farming.  
According to the Canadian Land Inventory, Nova Scotia has 
over 1.57 million hectares of soil suitable for agricultural use. 
Based on the classification system, soil types 1-4 are 
considered suitable for agricultural production. Nova Scotia 
soils range from classes 2 to 4, with class 3 representing 60% 
of NS soils.  

Nova Scotia soils tend to have silt/clay content which causes 
them to imperfectly drain of water – this leads to pooling, rill 
erosion and the accompanying challenges. Nova Scotia soils 
also tend to be acidic. Limestone is often necessary as a soil 
amendment to increase the soil pH and encourage the 
availability of soil nutrients to plants while gypsum can be 
used to improve soil structure. Gypsum is also known to not 
increase soil pH, thus being an important nutrient source for 
crops requiring lower pH values.  

Topsoil removal is governed at the municipal level. In a 
survey of Municipal Plans and By-Laws conducted by the 
Department of Municipal Affairs regarding topsoil removal 
provisions, only a handful directly referenced topsoil. These 
references referred to erosion, flooding and environmental 
contamination in the context of construction and property 
development; not in the context of agriculture. The few by-
laws that did reference agriculture were for counties that 
tended to have more class 2 and 3 soils.  

In addition to the human removal of topsoil, the changing 
climate has the potential to put soils at risk of loss. 
Fluctuating weather events which will bring more erratic 
precipitation and more frequent freeze-thaw events threaten 
the existing soil structure and will likely lead to erosion of 
Nova Scotia’s best quality soil (top organic layer). Much like 
other risks in agriculture, they cannot be eliminated, but 
managed with proper supports and planning.  Soil 
management has potential to mitigate against climate 
change through carbon sequestration. 

Policy Statement  
It shall be the policy of the Nova Scotia Federation of 
Agriculture to consult with farmers, stakeholders and experts 
to ensure healthy and productive soils remain throughout 
Nova Scotia. 
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Regulatory Affairs 
Regulatory burden is imposed when regulation and policies 
are implemented and increase the amount of paperwork, 
cost and time for businesses to operate. In agriculture, 
regulatory burden can be imposed by varying levels of 
government: municipal, provincial and federal. Some issues 
can be multi-jurisdictional which further complicates the 
matter.  

The reasons that regulations can be a burden to those in 
agriculture vary. Outdated regulations can limit growth and 
often don’t reflect the current direction of the industry. 
Inspection has proven to be a challenge across many aspects 
of the agriculture industry. Access to abattoirs is a barrier for 
many livestock farmers in Nova Scotia and pending changes 
under the provincial inspection system have the potential to 
further limit inspection times and booking deadlines. While 
legislation is often challenging, there are elements that are 
promising. For example, The Meat Inspection Act has a 
provision allowing the Minister to assemble an advisory 
committee on topics related to abattoirs and meat 
inspection. Many of the challenges that processors face 
would be able to be addressed through this committee.  

New regulations and changes to existing regulations are 
inevitable; however, should be implemented in such a way 
that minimally impacts farmers, farm families and farm 
operations. NSFA regularly collaborates with industry 
stakeholders – Canadian Federation of Agriculture, 
commodity organizations and others – to ensure that impact 
is minimal and that changes are warranted.  

Policy Statement  
It shall be the policy of the Nova Scotia Federation of 
Agriculture to continue to lobby for regulations that reflects 
the needs of farmers, farm families and farm operations. 
NSFA will then monitor, participate, and communicate 
changes to regulations at the provincial and federal levels 
that will impact agriculture. NSFA will also work with industry 
stakeholders to ensure compliance requirements are well 
communicated throughout the industry.

FPT Agreement 
Federal Provincial Territorial (FPT) agreements have been in 
place to support farmers for decades.  The Canadian 
Agricultural Partnership (CAP) replaced Growing Forward 2 
FPT which expired in 2018 and was preceded by Growing 
Forward from 2008 to 2013.  These agreements provide 
program funding intended to support agriculture.  Each 
framework identified new priorities and the cost share 
between provincial and federal governments.  Some 
programs are cost shared between the federal and provincial 
governments while others have a national scope and are 
federally delivered.  The framework can be divided between 
two groups – Business Risk Management (BRM) Programs 
which includes insurance and disaster programing and non-
BRM programs such as environmental protection, climate 
change adaptation, marketing and diversity in agriculture.   
The FPT agreements reduce ad hoc payments to industry and 
meet Organization for Economic Co-operation Development 
(OECD) standards to be within the green and amber boxes for 
trade.   

The current FPT Agriculture framework, Canadian Agricultural 
Partnership (CAP), is set to end in 2023 with anticipation that 
CAP2 will follow.  With the current government already 
referring to the next framework as CAP 2, it is reasonable to 
expect priorities under the non-BRM programs to remain the 
same as those priorities under CAP.  This federal government 
has demonstrated interest in consulting on various matters 
across government and there is anticipation that 
consultations can be expected for CAP2.  This will give 
industry associations and farmers opportunities to 
participate in consultations and inform the needs of the 
Agriculture Industry.   

Program content and delivery haven’t been satisfactory in 
recent years.  This is obvious as NSFA membership has 
passed more than a dozen resolutions pertaining to 
programs in recent years.  Some resolutions were focused on 
programming to support specific sectors of the agriculture 
industry while other resolutions were broad to address the 
flaws in program delivery.  With better consultation, many of 
the industry concerns could be addressed.  

BRM programming has long had its faults. The intention for 
the BRM suite of programs is presumably to support farms 
with various unmanageable risks including climate change 
and volatile markets.  Many BRM programs, notably 
AgriStability, have demonstrated themselves ineffective and 
inaccessible to many farms.  The BRM programs are 
undergoing federal review with input from the National 
Programs Advisory Committee and the Canadian Federation 
of Agriculture.   

Policy Statement 
The Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture will take a 
leadership role in consulting with membership to inform 
recommendations and lobby efforts for the next 
Federal/Provincial/Territorial agreement for Agriculture.  
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Get involved!
Canadian Agriculture Literacy Month 2021
Why Participate?
• Increase public trust in agriculture by educating the next

generation of consumers about where their food comes from
• Create a personal connection with the students to help to

create a positive image of agriculture
• Increase the connection to farms that has been lost over time
• Share your story about how amazing an agriculture career can be

March 2021 marks the 10th year of Canadian Agriculture Literacy Month!  
Did you know that this national program started in Nova Scotia? Please join us in  

virtual visits to bring the story of “Our Food, Our Story” to Nova Scotia classrooms. 
If you would like to participate, please email Ag.Education@novascotia.ca . 

Resources and assistance will be supplied to all volunteers. 
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2020 – A year in review … 

Rail blockades: During the CFA AGM in late February, 
CFA hosted a press conference detailing the devastating 
impacts that the rail blockades were having on Canadian 
farmers.  The press conference included representatives 
from Western, Central and Eastern Canada, Supply 
Managed sectors and industry representative from 
Fertilizer Canada, and the Canadian Pork Council. 

The press conference had a large impact, with 22 media 
outlets covering the press conference including Global, CTV, the Canadian Press and Prime Time Politics. 
The CFA Executive team conducted interviews afterwards on many outlets, including Bloomberg, Globe 
and Mail and the BBC. Overall, the event spawned 35 media stories, many of which were amplified 
across several national media networks. 

COVID-19: In mid-March, CFA closed its office and began working from home due to mitigation and 
containment efforts for COVID-19. During this time, 
CFA worked diligently to maintain communications 
with its members and farmers across Canada. Those 
efforts included: 

• Weekly surveys to both its membership and
farmers across Canada to identify acute issues

• Weekly President’s messages giving important
updates on what CFA was working towards
and the priorities of the sector.

• A COVID-19 Resource Page on the CFA website
to collected resources for farmers and
employers
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Temporary Foreign Workers: CFA’s main priority in March was to ensure that Temporary Foreign 
Workers (TFW) could still enter the country to work on farms. CFA outlined to the government how a 
lack of TFWs would guarantee massive reductions in primary production and lead to food shortages in 
Canada. CFA was pleased to see that through its efforts and the efforts of other stakeholders, TFWs 
were approved to enter the country in late March. In April, the government announced financial support 
for self-isolation costs for TFWs. 

In response to media stories around outbreaks of COVID-19 on farms and the Temporary Foreign 
Worker Program, CFA developed a Facts and Information page on the Temporary Foreign Worker 
Program. 

This page is meant to serve as an information base to send government officials or media if they seek 
more objective information on these programs. 

Virtual Press Conference: In early April, CFA conducted a virtual press conference and released a press 
release noting that the domestic food supply should be the government's #2 priority following 
healthcare and an emergency fund was needed to help the sector through COVID, similar to emergency 
funding the government provided to other sectors of the economy. 

The press conference was picked up from all national media organizations and various local media as 
well. Metrics showed the conference itself had approximately 5000 views, while CFA executives 
conducted over 25 interviews in the days following the press conference.  

In late April, after seeing very little action from the government for agriculture, CFA publicized the $2.6 
billion fund request in a press release to apply further pressure on the government. 

Food for Thought Campaign: As 
agriculture failed to see any 
additional support from the Federal 
government, CFA decided that a 
larger and more powerful 
public/government relations 
campaign needed to be undertaken. 

CFA chose to work with Edelman 
Canada to create a campaign that 
would spur action from urban and 
suburban Canadians to greatly 
increase emails sent to MPs across 
the country and specifically MPs/Ministers with key Federal Government portfolios. 

CFA worked throughout the month to obtain funding partners and work with its membership and 
stakeholders to develop public and government relations messaging and rework the initial $2.6 billion 
request to identify specific problems and providing specific solutions.  

https://www.cfa-fca.ca/issues/temporary-foreign-worker-program-and-canadian-agriculture/
https://www.cfa-fca.ca/issues/temporary-foreign-worker-program-and-canadian-agriculture/
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Phase 1 of this campaign was a huge success, with approximately 15,000 direct emails being sent to MPs 
from urban and suburban audiences, and over 4000 people signing up to receive email updates, creating 
a large advocacy base. Overall, over 50,000 letters were sent to MP’s in support of Canadian Agriculture 
via the Food for Thought campaign.  

Due to this success, CFA acquired funding partners to launch a Phase 2 of the campaign, which ran into 
the end of the year  

National Campaign Partners for Phase 1 included: CN, Nutrien, Syngenta, Canadian Cattleman’s 
Association, Canadian Pork Council, Canadian Seed Trade Association, MNP, Ontario Greenhouse 
Vegetable Growers & Canadian Seed Growers Association. 

National Campaign Partners for Phase 2 included: CN, Canadian Cattleman’s Association, Canadian Pork 
Council, Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers, MNP, Fertilizer Canada and BASF Canada 

The key objectives of both Phase 1 and 2 of the campaign was to get federal and provincial governments 
1) to improve the Agri-Stability program 2) develop and National Labour Strategy and 3) develop a “Buy
Canadian” campaign.

Key highlights from the both campaigns include: 

- The development of two video assets urging support for Canadian agriculture, with one video
available in English and French.

- Development of an automated letter-writing website to create an easy way to send a message
of support to MPs.

- Paid media and advertising targeting Toronto and Vancouver as well as strategic ridings
throughout Canada.

- Constant government relations work to put CFA proposals in front of as many important
decision-makers as possible.

- A flurry of virtual lobby meetings in advance of the November 27th FPT Agriculture Minister’s
meeting, with CFA conducting over 27 meetings in late October and early November. Total
target of Federal Government meetings totaling 39 meetings, with a mixture of specific Fed.
Cabinet Minister and MP’s in targeted regions.

- Internal communications toolkits for members to assist in amplifying messages via social media
assets, internal communications, etc.

Throughout the year, CFA has also taken part in various consultations including on the COVID-19 response, 
the Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy’s effectiveness for farmers and many more. 

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Offset Protocols: Summer saw the debut of priority projects for consideration 
under Environment and Climate Change Canada’s GHG Offset System. The list included a number of 
project-types applicable to agriculture, including afforestation of previously agricultural land, livestock 
manure management, aerobic composting and soil organic carbon.   

CFA has actively lobbied for farmers to generate credits for these activities, which they can then sell to 
offset industrial emissions under the output-based pricing system. The Federation submitted comments 
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in August 2020 and will next raise recommendations at an upcoming meeting with ECCC’s Carbon Pricing 
Bureau. Consultations are scheduled to continue in 2021. 

Clean Fuel Standard (CFS) Land-use and Biodiversity (LUB) Criteria: This summer also saw ECCC release 
their proposed land-use and biodiversity criteria for the CFS. The standard aims to to reduce emissions at 
various stages in the fossil fuel lifecycle, using three categories of credits to incentivize reductions.  

Category 2 credits would allow biofuel refineries to generate credits from purchasing feedstock crops that 
meet the standard’s LUB criteria, which includes considerations protected areas and riparian zones. This 
fall, CFA met with ECCC to address a number of concerns raised by farmers regarding their obligations 
under the criteria.  

It was confirmed that the criteria would not come into rely on existing frameworks already in place for 
farmers to follow. A document on further CFA recommendations for the CFS is currently in circulation for 
members to review.  

2020 has been a year like no other, but CFA has worked diligently with its members and partners 
throughout the year to secure the support that Canadian agriculture needs to be a powerful economic 
engine for Canada’s recovery. 



Commodity Reports
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Agri-Futures Nova Scotia Farewell 

To say that the last few years have been full of change would be an understatement. This is something 
that the agriculture industry knows all too well. This is something that industry organizations can attest 
to– including Agri-Futures Nova Scotia (AFNS). This past year alone has brought significant changes to 
AFNS with the Executive Director taking on a new role with the NSFA to support Nova Scotia farmers 
connecting with consumers in our province. This left the organization at a cross roads, wondering what 
direction they should turn and what action should be taken.  

Agri-Futures has done a lot of work since its formation in 1997. It’s most known for delivering programs on 
behalf of Agriculture and Agri-Food for 17 years. More than $16 million was delivered through five different 
funding programs from 1997 to 2014. More than 200 Nova Scotia led projects were completed and 
hundreds more collective outcome projects with other provinces were funded. Supporting industry led 
research and innovation was always at the heart of the association. When funding delivery ended AFNS 
believed that the industry needed support to connect the food system and increase collaboration. 
Launching recent initiatives that focus on Collective Impact, such as Grow Nova Scotia and overseeing the 
Salad Bar Pilot Project – working to increase local food procurement in NS schools.  

The AFNS board held a special meeting last week to discuss next steps for the organization. Ultimately, 
with decreased capacity and resources, a special resolution was put forward to dissolve the organization. 
This decision was made after months of careful consideration. We would like to acknowledge and 
commend the work that Agri-Futures has done over the past number of years as they worked to increase 
the amount of local food in our schools across the province.  

Next Steps 

The remaining AFNS funds will be distributed to the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture (NSFA). 
Following this, the NSFA will establish the “Grow Nova Scotia Food Committee” which will approve the 
disbursement of the Grow Nova Scotia food system funds held in internally restricted funds for projects 
that align with the establishment of a whole food system approach to increase access to local and 
healthy foods in schools.  

“Agri-Futures has been a driving force behind local food initiatives our schools. The passion and 
dedication of current and previous board members and staff is noteworthy, they have shared the same 
drive to increase Nova Scotians local food consumption. I would like to thank everyone for the support 
they have provided our organization over the years and I look forward to the work of the Grow Nova 
Scotia Food Committee.” – Richard Melvin, AFNS Board Chair.  

“At the NSFA our vision is a prosperous and sustainable future for Nova Scotia farms and farmers. One of 
the many ways we can work towards this vision is to continue AFNS’s local food initiatives. Over the past 
number of months we have seen a significant shift in the buy local/support local movement, with Nova 
Scotians developing a great appreciation for Nova Scotian grown products. We are happy to accept the 
funds from AFNS and we are committed to continuing to build on the strong foundation Agri-Futures has 
built.”  



Annual Report 
November 2020 
A reflection or report on 2020, like many, saw upset 
in the marketplace and a shift in the way we 
conduct business as an organization and as 
farmers.  For the egg industry, the table market saw 
a surge in the beginning of the pandemic with 
increased egg sales, however, it was quickly offset 
by a decline in sales for the hotel and restaurant 
industries.  The egg industry worked collectively 
across Canada to ensure fresh, high quality 
Canadian eggs continued to be available for 
consumers through these trying times.  Through 
the process of managing the supply and demand, 
we are reminded and grateful for the benefits of our 
supply managed system even through COVID-19. 

On Farm Programs 
In keeping business as normal as possible and 
ensuring food safety remained a top priority, both 
EFNS and EFC continued with field operations 
without interruption. This includes the delivery of 
the national on-farm programs, Start Clean-Stay 
Clean® and the Animal Care Program.   

The Start Clean-Stay Clean® (SCSC) program is 
delivered to both pullet and egg producers. As a 
condition of licensing, registered egg farmers are 
required to achieve a minimum score of 90% and 
pass all Critical Control Elements in these on-farm 
food safety programs. We are proud to confirm the 
Nova Scotia average in SCSC- layers for 2019 was 
98.26% with 13 producers achieving a perfect 
100%. The Nova Scotia average in 2019 for SCSC 
- pullets was 98.11% with 8 producers achieving
perfect ratings of 100%.

The National Animal Care Program™ (ACP) for 
laying hens ensures that hens are cared for and 
handled in accordance with the Code of Practice. 
Licensed egg farmers are required to achieve a 
minimum rating of 90% and pass all Critical Care 
Elements in this program. NS egg farmers again 
exceeded expectations with a provincial average 
score in 2019 of 99.38% and 18 producers 
achieving 100%.  

“NS egg farmers again exceeded expectations” 

EFNS continues to keep pace with the national hen 
housing transition to non-conventional systems, 
with 46% of birds in enriched or free-range / free-
run housing at year-end. Despite construction 
challenges, this year housing transitions are 
projected to continue, and we expect this number 
will grow to 61% by the end of 2021. 
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Promotion 
Promotion and marketing of eggs is a big part of 
the mandate at Egg Farmers of Nova Scotia.  The 
2020 landscape looked different with the global 
pandemic and cancellation of many consumer 
shows; however, we did participate in the Meet 
Your Farmer event at Cole Harbour Place in 
February which was a great opportunity to provide 
education and awareness about eggs 

In adapting to the new normal, EFNS focused on 
the development of a new website and refreshed 
logo.  We also participated in CTV’s Fields to Forks 
with a commercial featuring Jill Thomas, Scotia 
Poultry which ran from August through to the end 
of the year. This campaign along with segments on 
CTV Morning Live created a platform to promote 
the nutritious benefits of eggs and the 
#eggsanytime campaign.  Afterall, eggs for supper 
isn’t weird, waving goodbye on your zoom meeting 
is weird! 

Egg Farmers Give Back 
For the fifth year, EFNS, in partnership with Egg 
Farmers of Canada (EFC), offered the Egg Farmers 
Give Back program. The program invites egg 
farmers to identify community-minded projects 
that could use a helping hand. Farmer-led projects 
this year included support of a volunteer fire 
department, local food banks, and egg donations to 
community events.  EFNS is also proud to support 
Brigadoon Village and their 2020 ‘More than just a 
Cookbook’ project and we are thrilled to continue 

the sponsorship of Ronald McDonald House 
kitchen.   Our industry also came together and 
made multiple donations throughout the year to 
Feed Nova Scotia. Our Eggs in the Classroom 
program was sidetracked with the inability to 
physically visit schools; however, efforts are 
underway to make the virtual classroom a reality for 
this program. 

Executive Board and Staff 
2020 Board of Directors is lead by our Chair, Jeff 
Clarke and his executive team, Tim Cox, Vice Chair 
and Glen Jennings, EFC Director.  Our Directors 
rounding out the team are Ralph Delong, Theodore 
Eyking, Geneve Newcombe, Paul Overmars and Ian 
Thomas. 

The staff team at EFNS consists of Wanda 
Hamilton, General Manager, Sara Franklin, Field 
Operations Manager, Jann McFarlane, Promotion 
and Communication, Danita Newman, Accounting 
and Lorraine Ryan, Industrial Products 
Administration. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Jeff Clarke 
Chair 

Wanda Hamilton 
General Manager 
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Farmers' Markets of Nova Scotia Cooperative Ltd. 
9 Chestnut Lane, Dartmouth, NS, B2Y 3X1 
Phone: 902-932-7282 
FMNS@farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca 
www.farmersmarketsnovascotia.com

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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Summary of key events and adaptations of Nova Scotia’s 
farmers’ market sector in 2020 

Since early 2020, the Farmers’ Markets of Nova Scotia Cooperative (FMNS) has worked tirelessly to mitigate the 
impacts of COVID-19 on the province’s farmers’ market sector. Since March, FMNS has helped Nova Scotia become 
the first province or state in North America to create a province-wide cohort of online farmers’ markets, released 
up-to-date health and safety directives for the sector, hosted webinars with our member farmers’ markets, created 
guides to federal and provincial funding opportunities, and worked one-on-one to help our markets and vendors 
adapt to constantly shifting market conditions. We’ve created grants and resources, leveraged provincial and 
federal funding to provide financial assistance, promotion, and support to the sector, and radically altered our 
cooperative’s activities to help our sector persevere through these challenging times.  

We’ve even been able to grow. At 38 member farmers’ markets, FMNS is now as big as it’s ever been. Some of our 
incredibly important programming has been able to grow too. Our cooperative has been able to expand its 
Nourishing Communities Food Coupon Program in 2020 (view October 5 press release here), providing hundreds of 
vulnerable and marginalized Nova Scotians with access to an anonymous but fully trackable alternative currency 
to be used at participating FMNS member farmers’ markets.  

With the exception of a small handful of FMNS’ 38 farmers' markets, virtually every one operated in some capacity 
in 2020. Some markets wind down during the fall, and many close seasonally after the holiday break, but there are 
markets all over Nova Scotia that are operating well into the cold months, and many that operate year-round. 
FMNS acknowledges that social distancing requirements may have changed the layout, look, and feel of many of 
our markets, but there are so many beautiful, incredibly important farmers' markets in operation right now in Nova 
Scotia. And they need our public support now more than ever. A map of these markets can be found by clicking 
here.  

FMNS has been issuing constantly updated health and safety directives, provided financial guides, significantly 
expanded our Nourishing Communities Food Coupon Program to support vulnerable households, created and 
issued funding support (money to cover the cost of creating online stores, marketing grants for farmers' markets 
and BIPOC-owned businesses, and adaptation grants for sanitizer, PPE, signage, coolers, tables, and more), hosted 
support webinars, advocated on behalf of the sector as a whole, increased our promotional activities substantially, 
and are in the process of creating a mental health support program specifically for the farmers' market sector. 
We've done all of this to make sure that our farmers' markets can continue operating, adapt, and have the biggest 
impact possible during these challenging times.  

FMNS released a special video and a statement on Monday, September 28th, explaining exactly this: through thick 
and thin, we’ve seen our farmers’ markets rise to the occasion, constantly adapting to safely bring the best of Nova 
Scotia directly to Nova Scotians. From online marketplaces to physical stores to public markets with social  

https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/2020/07/28/july-28-2020-updated-recommended-measures-for-farmers-markets-to-continue-safely-serving-nova-scotians/
https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/2020/07/28/july-28-2020-updated-recommended-measures-for-farmers-markets-to-continue-safely-serving-nova-scotians/
https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/2020/10/15/october-15-2020-updated-guide-to-financial-assistance-and-funding-opportunities-for-farmers-markets-and-vendors-in-nova-scotia/
https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/2020/10/15/october-15-2020-updated-guide-to-financial-assistance-and-funding-opportunities-for-farmers-markets-and-vendors-in-nova-scotia/
https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/2020/10/05/press-release-farmers-market-food-bucks-program-important-now-more-than-ever/
https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/find-a-market-new/
https://farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca/find-a-market-new/
https://youtu.be/wwxO2TKmWto


Farmers' Markets of Nova Scotia Cooperative Ltd. 
9 Chestnut Lane, Dartmouth, NS, B2Y 3X1 
Phone: 902-932-7282 
FMNS@farmersmarketsnovascotia.ca 
www.farmersmarketsnovascotia.com

--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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distancing, barriers, and health and safety plans, our farmers' markets have been leaders in this province to make 
sure Nova Scotians can continue safely shopping local.  

Please note that FMNS also wishes to state that we acknowledge--as the only farmers' market sector association east 
of Ontario--that Nova Scotia's farmers' market season has been exceptionally challenging and trying for many 
vendors. Crafters and artisans have been hit particularly hard by COVID-19 restrictions, and FMNS wholeheartedly 
encourages and supports crafters' markets, holiday markets, pop-up markets, and all sorts of direct marketing 
initiatives. They go hand-in-hand with farmers' markets and are essential for our vendors. 

About Farmers’ Markets of Nova Scotia (FMNS) and our members 

Founded in 2004, FMNS is a non-profit cooperative and the only farmers’ market sector association east of Ontario. 
With over 35 unique members representing over 1,500 owner-operated businesses across the province, our 
cooperative is the unified voice of our region’s farmers’ market sector. Our cooperative advances growth and 
prosperity for our member farmers’ markets and their vendors through training, resources, advocacy, promotion, 
and community. Together, our organization and our members are building a cooperative and dynamic farmers’ 
market sector cultivating successful businesses, vibrant local economies, and healthy communities. 

Our cooperative’s member farmers’ markets are small business incubators, job creators, and hubs for social and 
economic activity. They’re the places where producers and vendors sell directly with their target market, where 
entrepreneurs find a low-overhead venue to create and develop their minimum viable product, where artisans 
showcase and sell their wares, and where new Canadians ply their trade. Our cooperative’s farmers’ markets are 
also a driving force in Nova Scotia’s buy-local movement and the trendsetters that launched and continue to 
bolster the province’s thriving agri-tourism industry. 
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2020 Nova Scotia Cattle Producers Report 

Cattle market prices started off strong this year, flattening due to COVID-19 uncertainties of processing. 
Locally, demand was strong which helped hold prices steady in Nova Scotia.   

The Nova Scotia Cattle Producers worked with the Canadian Food Inspection Agency to facilitate 
workshops, delivering the amendments to the livestock transportation regulations in February 2020. These 
workshops occurred in late February 2020 across the province, with nearly 100 attendees throughout the 
four locations.  

The Maritime Beef Council (MBC) released in Spring 2020 a new local dairy-beef resource: Beef on Dairy: A 
Maritime Dairy-Beef Production Guide.  This first volume manual, From Breeder to 500lb Feeder, was a joint 
collaboration from various Maritime industry organizations, such as provincial livestock specialists, Atlantic 
Veterinary College, all three Maritime Dairy Farmers associations, all three Maritime Beef Producers 
associations, provincial veterinarians and Milk 2020. This resource can be found at 
nscattle.ca/members/industry-fact-sheets/.  

Also in Spring 2020, NSCP started tracking cattle market pricing within the Eastern Canada region. This 
information is gathered each week, with the weekly cattle price from the week prior added to our website 
each Monday morning. This includes pricing from feeders (500-900 lbs), fed steers, cull cows and bob calves 
(good and average). This can be found on the Market Price Reports webpage: 
nscattle.ca/members/market-price-reports/.  

In Summer 2020, NSCP and Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia jointly wrote and submitted a letter of interest for 
the Climate Adaptation Leadership Program through the Nova Scotia Environment - Climate Change Unit 
and the Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture project. The Cattle (Beef and Dairy) sector was selected as 
one of the three industry topics, being the only livestock group involved. Throughout the next two years, 
there will be focus groups routinely meeting between beef and dairy who will represent both industries, as 
well as selected value chain stakeholders, with the end result being a completed adaptation strategy.   

Throughout the year, NSCP worked with the Agri-Commodity Management Association on the Nova Scotia 
Animal Transport Resource and Training Program through funding obtained by CAP. This allowed for a 
resource to be developed, the Livestock Transportation Manifest. Manifest books are available at the Nova 
Scotia Cattle Producers office for a fee of $10. Additionally, this funded livestock commercial truckers in the 
province to undergo online Canadian Livestock Transport (CLT) Training, to have the certification in animal 
transport in Canada with current regulations. There are livestock training sessions planned to occur in the 
near future for producers. Details will be announced as they are finalized.  

http://nscattle.ca/members/industry-fact-sheets/
http://nscattle.ca/members/market-price-reports/
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With the current COVID-19 Public Health regulations, NSCP have moved to virtual workshops, rather than 
in-person meetings for this fall. We are releasing Virtual Farm Tours – where producers have the opportunity 
to see how other farms are operating, from the comfort of their home! These began November 2020, rolling 
into spring 2021. Please watch our website, social media and monthly updates for these releases.  

The Cattle Industry Enhancement Program, a Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture (NSDA) CAP Program, 
has an application deadline of December 31, 2020. This program aims to improve industry competitiveness 
and resilience through disease prevention and control, improving animal health and welfare, as well as 
enhancing genetic potential. Please visit novascotia.ca/programs/ for a complete listing of all government 
programs and eligibility. 

Maritime beef producers can now listen to important industry topics discussed by local, regional and 
national guests on Maritime Agcast. This podcast created and directed by the Agri-Commodity 
Management Association (ACMA) launched early September 2020, and features bi-weekly episodes of hot 
topics. Additional information be found at anchor.fm/maritime-agcast.  

Sincerely, 

Larry Weatherby  
Larry Weatherby, Chair 

https://novascotia.ca/programs/
https://anchor.fm/maritime-agcast
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2020 Pork Nova Scotia Report 

Like many of the past fifteen years, 2019 was filled with highs and lows for the pork industry in Nova Scotia and across 
the country. 

There continues to be strong consumer demand for local pork and our producers have responded by marketing more 
hogs locally as well as increasing overall production.  In 2019, we are on track to pass 2018 final production numbers.  
Hog production remains very consistent.  In 2019 we marketed more than 55,000 weaners, 9,500 markets and 1,300 
feeders.  

We are on track to market approximately 75% of all Nova Scotia market hogs within the Province this year, which is 
consistent with the past few years.  Strong local demand and expanding market opportunities in Quebec have led to 
stabilization, if not an increase in Nova Scotia production.  For producers who continue to ship hogs into central 
Canadian commodity markets, prices continued to be volatile, especially in the late summer months but averaged 
similarly to 2018. 

Pork Nova Scotia continues to work with the Canadian Pork Council on several initiatives on national program 
implementation.  After about three years of development and farm trials, the Canadian Pork Excellence Program will 
be launched in early 2019.  This program will replace the previous Canadian Quality Assurance and Animal Care 
Assessment programs.  Nova Scotia producers will be trained on the program in 2020 for implementation in 2021. 

Since coming into force in July 2014, there has been very good uptake of PigTrace by producers, assembly yards and 
processors of hogs across the Province.  Though we have experienced a slow-down in the number of new 
stakeholders, we are still seeing growth.   In 2019, we registered more than 30 new participants and selling more than 
800 PigTrace tags.   Over the past 6 years, the program has registered 610 participants and sold almost 6,500 tags. 

Since the early part of 2019, Pork Nova Scotia has been working with the Department of Agriculture to develop a long-
term growth strategy for the pork industry.  The strategy focuses on marketing opportunities, including branding and 
industry programming to meet marketing objectives, as well as impending production requirements related to the 
Pig Code of Practice. 

Nationally and globally, 2019 was a very difficult year for the hog industry.  Early in the year there was an African Swine 
Fever outbreak in China which had a significant impact on world protein markets.  As the outbreak makes its way to 
other major hog producing countries, the Canadian industry is working very hard to keep the disease out.  PNS has 
engaged with the Canadian Pork Council, local CFIA and NSDA representatives to discuss industry biosecurity and 
disease mitigation strategies.  The ASF outbreak had a significant impact on prices throughout the year, being more 
volatile than usual. 

Sincerely, 

Margie Lamb, Chair 
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2020 Sheep Producers Association of Nova Scotia Report 

We experienced an extremely hot, dry summer this year in Nova Scotia, with some areas experiencing drought 
conditions. Fall arrived with cooler weather approaching early on and hopefully delivered plentiful harvests for all.   

With COVID-19 Public Health regulations in place, SPANS have decided to make the move to virtual workshops rather 
than in-person meetings for this fall. We have been recording Virtual Farm Tours – where producers have the 
opportunity to see how other farms are operating, from the comfort of their home! These began launching in 
November and will roll into spring 2021. Please keep an eye on out on the website, social media and monthly updates 
for these releases.  

The Sheep Industry Enhancement Program, a Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture (NSDA) CAP Program, has an 
application deadline of November 30, 2020. This program aims to improve industry competitiveness and resilience 
through disease prevention and control, improving animal health and welfare, as well as enhancing genetic potential. 
Please visit novascotia.ca/programs/ for a complete listing of all government programs and eligibility.  

SPANS, in cooperation with the Maritime Beef Test Society (MBTS) and AgSights have teamed up to offer a 2021 
Central Ram Evaluation in Nappan, NS. This Central Ram Test is designed to provide Canadian purebred and 
commercial sheep producers with the necessary tools to evaluate the genetic potential of their performance-tested 
ram(s) as breeding stock, while offering important information used to evaluate their own flock’s genetic improvement 
program. The information generated in a Central Ram Evaluation can improve the marketability of rams and provide 
valuable information used as a selection tools to increase a sheep flocks productivity and profitability. Additional 
information can be found at nssheep.ca/category/sheep-news/. Although intents to consign were originally due mid-
October, please contact the SPANS office by December 1, 2020 if you are interested in consigning.  

We have been actively working on strategic planning for the industry, with representatives of the Nova Scotia 
Department of Agriculture and select SPANS members. We expect that the strategy will be completed in 2021 and will 
be working closely with stakeholders on its implementation.  

SPANS have available resources pertaining to the amended transportation regulations from this past February on our 
website, under the Animal Health section. This includes CFIA resources and a fillable livestock manifest document. 
We also have livestock transport manifest books available at our office for a $10.00 per book fee, for 50 triplicate 
copies. If you are interested in getting customized books printed, please contact ASE Print directly at (902) 895-8804.  

Maritime sheep producers now have the opportunity to listen in to important industry topics discussed by local, 
regional and national guests on Maritime Agcast. This podcast created and directed by the Agri-Commodity 
Management Association (ACMA) launched early September 2020, and features bi-weekly episodes of hot topics. 
Additional information be found at anchor.fm/maritime-agcast.  

Make sure you check the website and social media for a full listing of upcoming events, both in-person and virtually. 
As always, if you have any questions/comments or suggestions for workshop topics, don’t hesitate to contact the 
office. 

Sincerely, 

Fred Hamilton, President 

https://novascotia.ca/programs/
http://nssheep.ca/category/sheep-news/
https://anchor.fm/maritime-agcast
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Annapolis County Federation of Agriculture 
Annual Report 2020 

The 2019 – 2020 year has been an eventful one for all Nova Scotia farmers.  Farmers in Annapolis 
County had to contend with the challenges brought on by a mild winter, with little snowfall, 
increased drought conditions during the summer, as well as, Covid–19 and its challenges.  
Certainly the delayed entrance to Canada for migrant workers from foreign countries made it 
difficult for many farms in the Maritimes, including some farms in Annapolis County. 

This year, the Annapolis County Federation of Agriculture has taken a governance workshop in 
order to better understand how to work efficiently together. 

The Annapolis County Climate Summit was attended in order to help educate, as well as, better 
understand how climate change is affecting us in Annapolis County. 

Two tractor courses for Classes 15 and 23 were held at Bishop Farms. 

The Annapolis Valley Exhibition was cancelled, along with all the other agricultural exhibitions in 
Nova Scotia. 

The Clean Annapolis River Project held an Agro Eco Systems workshop which our president 
attended. 

New 10 years leases were signed with the Youth Arena and Annapolis County 4-H. 

Four Annapolis County farms participated in the Nova Scotia Virtual Farm Day by way of a video 
recorded at the Annapolis Farmers and Traders Market. 

Our President, Steph Warr Manningham, has resigned from the ACFA Executive.  We appreciate 
all her efforts, hard work and dedication over the last two years. 

Discussion is continuing between the ACFA and the Annapolis Valley Exhibition as we decide on 
the best way to move forward. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Danny Bruce 
Vice President 
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Digby County Federation of Agriculture 

2020 Annual Report 

This past year has been very challenging in many ways, and made it very difficult to make 
meetings or even hold an Annual Meeting.  With many directors having poor internet services or 
none, its been tough trying to plan meetings.  Also, with the current Covid-19 rules, renting a hall 
to have a face to face meeting is really hard as some halls don’t rent anymore, and others are 
charging a cleaning and disinfecting fee that makes hall rental expensive now. 

Our farm registration is dropping a fair amount, as many mink farms are out of business.         We 
have some beef farms maintaining their size, while many farmers are struggling to adjust to a 
new way of selling their farm products. This is a time where many farms want to learn how to sell 
their products profitably, but with the Covid rules, it makes it even more of a task to achieve. 

As a County, we are looking forward to a much better 2021 so we can become more active in 
helping our fellow farmers to produce more foods for our local food consumers. 

Dennis Boudreau, 
President, 
Digby Co. Federation of Agriculture 
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Report from Inverness/Victoria Federation of Agriculture 

Our Federation had another busy and challenging year.  The Machinery Committee has 
been very busy on the Federation’s behalf.  Once again, more machinery was secured for 
the rental program with the assistance of an ACOA grant. The rental program has become 
large enough that there is discussion about hiring a manager for the equipment and 
rental issues that come up during the year.   

Once again, our Federation has provided funds for the Gerard Chiasson Memorial Bursary 
which was won by Michaela MacLeod last November. We supported 4-H by donating 
funds to help Hayley Cox attend the Royal Winter Fair in Toronto and donating to the 
local 4-H Council. We contributed to the Breakfast program in a school in both counties. 

With the restrictions that Covid-19 presented, there were no opportunities to host 
workshops since March. Even the Ag. Awareness tent stayed in storage as there was no 
Achievement Day for Inverness County 4-H this past August.   

We certainly missed some of the social aspects, but agriculture didn’t stop for the virus in 
our counties.  We felt the impact during the first few months as processing slowed, milk 
was dumped, cattle and sheep couldn’t go to market in a timely fashion, and the 
shortage of skilled workers became even harder to secure with CERB making 
unemployment so financially enticing.  We hope the worst is behind us and look forward 
to a healthy and prosperous 2021! 
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2020 Annual Report 

2020 started out as a year with many plans for the Kings County Federation of Agriculture (KCFA) 
Activities, partnering with other organizations, tours for Municipal leaders and more.  As we all 
know, that all changed in March.  

Since that time, the KCFA board has continued to meet on a monthly basis, mostly virtually, to 
keep up with items of importance across all commodities.  

We have kept members informed with pertinent information for their operations and offered any 
assistance if needed.  

One of the first orders of business was advocating for the safe arrival of Temporary Foreign Workers 
so desperately needed to run successful businesses.  Many meetings were held with government 
officials to ensure this service was available and able to be completed.   

We hosted Kings Hants MP Kody Blois at one of our board meetings and also met with Federal 
Minister of Agriculture, Minister Bibeau.  

We were pleased that there was a successful plan in place to allow at least some of the workers to 
arrive and all safety precautions were in place.  

As our province went into lockdown, childcare came to the forefront as a debilitating concern for 
our Agriculture businesses.  Some operations lost workers as someone had to stay in to look after, 
and in many cases, teach children.  

Much advocacy was done around this issue and although not resolved, we hope there will be a 
better way forward in the future.  

As schools were opened in September the childcare issue was somewhat eased, however going back to 
school identified other issues.  Healthy food in schools was replaced with a standardized menu and no 
local food was allowed into the premises.  

Work is ongoing on this front and hopefully our school officials will realize the importance of and the 
abundance of local food right at their front door.  

As a Federation, KCFA as traditionally donated to a worthy cause, sometimes foodbanks as a way of giving 
back.  This year, the board voted to purchase Nourish Your Roots boxes for each of the schools in our 
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area.  This program obtains the local food from our local Nova Scotia producers, the box goes to a needy 
family and the funds raise help to fund a healthy school food program.  

As we continue to operate through COVID-19, KCFA will always be here to support our members and keep 
them informed of any new programs that they are in need of at this time.  

We are looking forward to a brighter 2021 and getting back to continued activities to support Agriculture 
in Kings County.  
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Lunenburg/Queens Board of Directors Report 

What started out as a normal year turned into anything but that. COVID -19 has turned our world 
upside down. This report is a story of one with no Exhibitions and no other activities. We as the 
Lunenburg/Queens board had very little to work on with all the cancellations and restrictions put 
in place during what is now our new normal.   

• The Lunenburg/Queens board had 7 face to face meetings and two phone meetings with
limited success.

• We are trying to find a way to start a machine bank but money is still the big issue
• Other than COVID, things where very slow.
• We still have our lime spreader and handling unit available for members to rent
• We are looking for new board members if anyone you know is interested, please let one

of our board members know

Lunenburg Queens Federation of Agriculture 
Board of Directors  



President’s Report 
Yarmouth, Shelburne Co. Federation of Agriculture 

Nov 4, 2020 

2020 has been an interesting year, to say the least. But before we get to the big news, there is 
good news.  

The Yarmouth/Shelburne Co federation of Agriculture continues to offer a $500 bursary to High 
School students who which to study in the field of Agriculture. This year, we have a recipient. Alison Perry 
from Yarmouth High School entering into the Pre-Vet program at Dalhousie will be receiving 
$500.00 from Yarmouth/Shelburne Co federation upon her completion of her first term. Congratulations 
Alison! 

We sponsored the Western N.S. Ag social in February, hosted by Kari Brown. 

Our membership has dropped from 55 in 2019, to 41 in 2020. 

With the challenges we face as farmers, an important one being weather and drought- continuing 
this summer with insufficient rainfalls-again- we are hit with a global pandemic, shutting down the world. 
Our daily lives have changed. The way we do business has changed. As farmers, our business cannot 
close down. We have live inventory, and it must be tended to, nurtured and the process must continue. 
The Province announced a State of Emergency in March which put a state of panic to this producer. After 
few phone calls, we found out as farmers, we are an essential service and can continue to work. Following 
the provincial guidelines, we continued but were faced with added workload, difficulty in finding 
employees, and an increase in demand for ‘local’ product.  

Most farmers have reported an increase in sales, deeming 2020 a ‘good year’ for business. With 
added stress and workload mind you. Our neighbors were concerned with food safety and buying local. 
With added time on their hands, our neighbors turned to use for advice on being self-sufficient.  

As producers, we feel our neighbors will be relying on us for years to come. ‘It was an eyeopener 
for the consumer on how delicate our food system is.’ 

We have been working at this for years, decades, to relay this point to the consumer. It took a 
global pandemic to bring it all home.  

I would like to thank our local and provincial government for keeping us safe. I would like to 
thank my neighbors, for keeping my farm alive.  

This is not over. 
Stay safe my friends.  

Alice d’Entremont 
President Yarmouth/Shelburne Co. Federation of Agriculture 
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RESOLUTIONS PROCESS 

Guidelines for a Resolutions Process  
The Federation’s resolution process should adhere to the following guidelines. 

1) Content
a) All resolutions should be relevant to the Guiding Principles listed in the Terms of Reference for

the Policy Advisory Committee.
b) Resolutions should be worded such that they include:

i) a clear background statement or addendum explaining the circumstances or problem
addressed by the resolution (i.e. whereas clause) and;

ii) a motion stating in clear and concise terms the expected or desired outcomes (i.e. therefore
be it resolved that):

c) Each organization submitting resolution(s) shall complete a form indicating that each resolution
was adopted at either a Board of Directors meeting or an annual general meeting of their
organization. It is clarified that this procedure does not prevent members from putting forward
resolutions from the floor of the annual meeting.

2) Categorization of Resolutions
a) Resolutions should be categorized by the Policy Advisory Committee.  Once resolutions are

passed, they will be triaged into categories according to which committee will take the lead on
addressing that resolution.

b) Resolution progress will be reviewed along with the policy review in early summer.
i) resolutions of a universal nature, that is having implications for the entire industry or a major

sector of the industry and have had minimum progress will be considered for policy of the
Federation, and;

ii) resolutions of a local or indigenous nature will remain as active resolutions with an identified
action plan.

3) Critical Path
a) Resolutions must be submitted to NSFA by the second Monday in November, or at least two

weeks prior to the Annual General Meeting which may be expected to deal with the resolution.
b) All resolutions received by the second Monday in November or two weeks prior to the Annual

General Meeting which may be expected to deal with them will be published and circulated in the
Resolutions Report prior to an Annual General Meeting.

c) Resolutions will be accepted from the floor at an Annual General Meeting at the discretion of the
AGM chair and shall be presented to the Secretary of meeting prior to being forwarded to the
Policy Advisory Committee chair for presentation as a resolution.

4) Resolutions Procedure
Every Annual General Meeting will have time allocated on the agenda to facilitate the processing of
new resolutions.
a) The Resolutions Report should be tabled the first morning with debate to start at a later time in

the meeting to allow for informal review and discussion of the resolutions. The Resolutions
session will be co-chaired by the AGM Chair and the Chair of the Policy Advisory Committee who
shall:
i) apply generally accepted procedural rules to the debate on resolutions and in general to the

resolutions session;
ii) Policy Advisory Committee Chair shall present and move to adopt each resolution, as

published in the Resolutions Report;
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iii) The AGM chairperson will then take over and ask a representative of the sponsoring body to
second the motion and then handle the debate and vote on the resolution. If the seconder of
the resolution speaks twice, subject to the discretion of the chair, this will close debate on
the resolution.

b) Additional resolutions which adhere to the criteria set out in 3 (c) above or with the two-thirds
support of the meeting will be accepted for debate during the resolutions session.
i) Apply generally accepted procedural rules to the debate on resolutions and in general to the

resolutions session;
ii) Since the resolution from the floor has not been vetted by the Policy Advisory Committee, the

member putting forward the resolution shall present and move to adopt each resolution, as
published in the Resolutions Report;

iii) The AGM chairperson will then take over asking for another member to second the motion
and then handle the debate and vote on the resolution. If the seconder of the resolution
speaks twice, subject to the discretion of the AGM chair, this will close debate on the
resolution.

5) Responsibilities of Policy Advisory Committee pertaining to Resolutions
a) To provide leadership in the area of implementation of the requests contained within resolutions

adopted at the preceding year’s annual general meeting. To be specific the committee will:
i) Request the staff to adequately prepare background documents supporting the intent of the

resolutions passed at an annual meeting, and
ii) Arrange for the formal presentation of these properly prepared resolutions to the appropriate

agencies and departments for their careful consideration in a timely manner, and
iii) Request that each agency or department charged with addressing a resolution issue be

required to make a serious attempt to resolve the issue brought forward, offer/negotiate an
alternate solution to the issue at hand, or adequately explain why the request cannot be
accomplished.

b) To attend Committee meetings and participate in Committee activities whenever possible.
c) To assist with the direction and wording of resolutions presented by the county federations and

commodity groups for presentation and adoption at the current year’s annual general meeting.

6) Accountability
a) The oversight of all activity relating to the resolutions passed by the Annual General Meeting will

be dealt with by the Policy Advisory Committee and reported to Council.
b) The Resolutions Report will include a summary of the actions taken on the resolutions active

during the current year.

7) Archive of Resolutions
a) All resolutions adopted at an annual meeting will be actively pursued during the year following

their adoption.
b) The Policy Advisory Committee will provide recommendation for approval to Council on the

ability and likelihood of the requested outcome.  Recommendation options include:
i) Objective met; no further action required;
ii) Objective not met, there is no political will, no further action is possible; or,
iii) Objective is not yet met, however, there appears to be political interest, continue with plan.

c) The Policy Advisory Committee will make a recommendation as approved by Council to the
annual meeting as to whether deleted the resolution or continue.

d) Resolutions will be archived three years following the AGM in which they were adopted.
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8) Responsibility
a) The Policy Advisory Committee will direct the preparation and circulation of an annual report

containing:
i) resolutions approved for presentation to the Annual General Meeting;
ii) notes on any changes or consolidations made by the Policy Advisory Committee, and;
iii) a report on the actions taken with respect to the active resolutions.

b) The Policy Advisory Committee may:
i) consolidate resolutions of similar nature, providing that submitters of the resolutions agree;
ii) make changes to the wording, but not the intent, of any resolution proposed; and,
iii) provide additional comments for clarification purposes, if additional information is available.
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Nominating Policy 

Policy Title:  Nominating Policy 
Policy Number: 3.0 

Effective Date: March 12, 2020 
Approved by: NSFA Council 
Policy Staff Contact: Executive Director  
Supersedes: Version approved by Council of Leaders, September 2014 
Last Reviewed/Updated: November 24, 2020 as per November 18, 2020 Minutes 
Applies to: NSFA Council 

Policy Purpose: To ensure there are qualified nominees to fill any Council vacancy; to ensure there 
are qualified applicants for various committees to be appointed by Council. 

Objective 
To ensure there is a committee to recommend members to satisfy any Council vacancy.  The Committee is 
established by the Council and shall be responsible for ensuring qualified nominees are presented for vote at the 
Annual Meeting. 

The Nominating Committee shall also ensure there are qualified applicants for various committees to be 
appointed by Council.  The Nominating Committee will review committee applications and make 
recommendations to Council. 

Membership 
The Nominating Committee is made up of two Council members and the two past Presidents of the NSFA. If one 
or both of the past Presidents are not able to participate, the preceding President will be asked to serve on the 
Nominating Committee. The President and Executive Director shall be ex-officio members of the Nominating 
Committee. The Committee shall select a chair from among its members.  A quorum of three committee members 
(excluding ex officio members) is required to convene a meeting of the committee. 

Council Vacancies 
Nominations shall be accepted through application in a format determined by the Nominating Committee.  The 
application period shall be open 45 calendar days prior to the 1st day of the Annual Meeting.  Applications must 
be received 15 calendar days prior to the 1st day of the Annual Meeting.  The application must be signed by the 
nominee and five (5) additional members of the NSFA.  The list of qualified nominees will be communicated 10 
calendar days prior to the 1st day of the Annual Meeting.  If there are an insufficient number of applications to fill 
the vacancies then nominations will be taken from the floor at the Annual Meeting. 

To ensure integrity of staggered terms, it shall be the policy of the Council that any Council member serving a 
partial term shall be eligible to complete three (3) three-year terms following their partial term following the 
nomination process of the NSFA. 
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• Persons nominated from the floor must be present at AGM;

• Any person nominated from the floor must be a recognized voting member of the Federation;

• Persons nominated from the floor must present to the membership their qualifications and rationale for
becoming a Council member;

• Each nomination from the floor will be voted on individually by the voting members and delegates.

Reporting 
The Committee shall make recommendations to Council by way of a written report.  A synopsis of vetted 
applicants shall be provided to Council upon recommendations being made.   



Council

Victor Oulton President

4956 Hwy 14 
Martock, 
Windsor B0N 2T0

798-4440 or
792-8151 cell 798-4440 oulton.farm@ns.sympatico.ca

Tim Marsh

1st Vice 
President & 
CFA Rep

1371 Avondale 
Road, Newport B0N 2A0 798-7924 timmarsh6402@gmail.com

Chris deWaal
2nd Vice 
President

615 Gospel 
Rd., Canning B0P 1H0 582-7756 chris@getawayfarm.ca

Allan Melvin

Corporate 
Secretary & 
Treasurer

400 Hubbard 
Mountain 
Road, Canning B0P 1H0 499-6968 582-3797 allan.melvin@gmail.com

Lauren Park At Large
9925 Hwy 1, 
RR2 Wolfville B4P 2R2 292-5160 laurenheatherpark@gmail.com

Chris van den 
Heuvel

Past President PO Box 29 Port 
Hood B0E 2W0 631-1884 chris.vandenheuvel@fireblade.ca

Andy Parker At Large
243 Coleman 
Road, Grafton B0P 1V0 679-8630 agparker80@gmail.com

Peter Morine At Large

176 Curtis 
Hebb Road, 
Newcombville B4V 7X5 527-3274 petemorine@gmail.com

Josh Oulton At Large

1736 Church 
Street, Port 
Williams B0P 1T0 670-4538 josh@taprootfarms.ca

Jacob Mullen At Large

625 Little 
Brook Road, 
Church Point B0W 1M0 778-0063 colette1999.cm@gmail.com

Joe Piotti At Large

81 Spiddle 
Road, West 
Earltown B0K 1V0 657-2308 farmerpiotti@gmail.com

Gordon Jackson At Large

2645 Clarence 
Road, 
Bridgetown B0S 1C0 584-3205 kjoycej@gmail.com
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7 Atlantic Central Drive, East Mountain
nsfa-fane.ca

info@nsfa-fane.ca
(902) 893-2293
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